Isoperimetric Inequalities of Minimal Submanifolds

Jaigyoung Choe

ABSTRACT. In this paper we introduce various types of isoperimetric inequalities for minimal submanifolds in Euclidean space, sphere, hyperbolic space, and Riemannian manifolds. Some inequalities for compound soap films, domains, nonpositively curved surfaces and harmonic maps are also discussed.

Contents

1.	Introduction	325
2.	Osserman and Schiffer's Proof	327
3.	Li, Schoen and Yau's proof	331
4.	The Cone Method	332
5.	Hyperbolic Case	334
6.	Variable Curvature Case	336
7.	Varifolds and Flat Chains	341
8.	Higher-Dimensional Minimal Submanifolds	343
9.	The Calibration Method	346
10.	Weak Isoperimetric Inequalities	347
11.	Modified Volume	351
12.	Relative Isoperimetric Inequality	353
13.	Negatively Curved Surfaces	359
14.	Isoenergy Inequalities	361
References		367

1. Introduction

The history of the isoperimetric problem begins with its legendary origins in the Problem of Queen Dido, told by Virgil in the Aeneid. Dido was a Phoenician princess from the city of Tyre. She fled by ship from Tyre when King Pygmalion, her tyrannical brother, murdered her husband to usurp her possessions. When Dido arrived in Africa at the site that was to become Carthage, she sought to purchase land from the natives. They told her they would sell only as much land as she

Supported in part by KOSEF 2000-2-10200-002-5.

could surround with a bull's hide. She accepted the terms and made the most of the situation. First she had her people cut a bull's hide into thin strips and tie them together to form a single, very long, closed cord. Then, by sheer intuition, she reasoned that she could encompass the most area by shaping the cord into the circumference of a circle. In this way she acquired a larger piece of land than she had coveted.

Here let us add our own fable to history: Dido was thus able to lead a comfortable life in the big land now called Byrsa. But her peaceful life did not last long; King Pygmalion, wanting ever more power and land, invaded Carthage, and Queen Dido was forced to flee again. This time she decided to move to Wonderland, where people inhabit a big soap film (minimal surface). There she purchased land surrounded by the same cord that she had used in Carthage. And Queen Dido asked herself whether her land in Wonderland was bigger than that in Carthage...

The first proof that Dido made the optimum choice in Carthage appears in the commentary of Theon to Ptolemy's *Almagest* and in the collected works of Pappus. The author of the proof is Zenodoros. However, Zenodoros' proof still contained a gap that was not filled in until the second half of the nineteenth century. A rigorous mathematical proof was given by Weierstrass in his lectures at the University of Berlin [Sp]. But Dido's Wonderland question has not been completely settled yet.

This paper concerns Queen Dido's new problem. We will summarize the results so far obtained by the author and others, and will present some new results. Many kinds of minimal submanifolds will be dealt with and various types of isoperimetric inequalities for them will be introduced.

Queen Dido's characterization of the circle is most succinctly expressed in the isoperimetric inequality

$$4\pi A < L^2$$
,

where A is the area enclosed by a curve C of length L, and where equality holds if and only if C is a circle. The first result in regard to Dido's new problem is due to Carleman [Ca] who showed in 1921 that if S is a disk type minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with area A and perimeter L, then

$$(1-1) 4\pi A \le L^2$$

with equality if and only if S is a flat disk. In other words, Queen Dido's land in Wonderland is smaller than that in Carthage. Then in 1933 Beckenbach and Radó $[\mathbf{BR}]$ generalized Carleman's method and showed that $4\pi A \leq L^2$ holds also for a disk type surface of nonpositive Gaussian curvature. Note that minimal surfaces have nonpositive Gaussian curvature.

It would seem at first glance that Carleman, Beckenbach and Radó's results provide a complete solution to Queen Dido's new problem, but that is not the case for some reason. The restriction to disk type surfaces is not a natural one. For example, a simple closed curve in \mathbb{R}^3 may bound a minimal surface of the type of a Möbius strip, or a surface with higher genus. One would like to know if $4\pi A \leq L^2$ also in those cases. A point worth noting when one drops simple connectivity is that the inequality $4\pi A \leq L^2$ does not hold for general surfaces of nonpositive Gaussian curvature. For example, on a long cylinder the perimeter remains fixed while the area can be made as big as one wishes. Also one can construct an example with a single boundary curve using a flat torus: the complement of a small disk is a domain of genus one on the torus whose perimeter can be made arbitrarily small.

In view of these examples it is something of a surprise that similar examples cannot be constructed within the class of minimal surfaces. This leads us to the following.

OPEN PROBLEM 1.1. Prove that $4\pi A \leq L^2$ for any minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n .

The difficulty in this open problem is that the minimal surface $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ may have arbitrary topology, ∂S may have more than one components, and S may not be area minimizing. Here are two arguments which give some insight into why one might expect the classical isoperimetric inequality (1-1) to hold also on minimal surfaces. Consider a surface $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ that has least area among all surfaces with the same boundary curve ∂S . Let its area be A and its perimeter L. First, suppose that ∂S is connected. Let S' be the cone over ∂S with vertex at some point of ∂S . Then S' has the same boundary as S, and hence its area A' is not less than A. But since it is a cone, S' can be developed in \mathbb{R}^2 onto a domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, preserving its area and perimeter. By the classical isoperimetric inequality in the plane, $4\pi A < 4\pi A' < L^2$. Second, suppose ∂S is not connected, and let C_1, \ldots, C_n be the distinct components of ∂S , S_1, \ldots, S_n the Douglas-Radó solutions with $\partial S_i = C_i$, A_i the area of S_i , and L_i the length of C_i . Then $S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_n$ has the same boundary as S, and hence its area $A_1 + \cdots + A_n$ is not less than A. But by the first argument for each S_i , $4\pi A_i \leq L_i^2$, and so $4\pi A \leq 4\pi (A_1 + \cdots + A_n) \leq L_1^2 + \cdots + L_n^2 \leq L^2$. These arguments, unfortunately, are valid only for area minimizing surfaces, while in Open Problem 1.1 S is an arbitrary minimal surface.

2. Osserman and Schiffer's Proof

First we take a look at the history of the isoperimetric inequality of a minimal surface in space. Carleman [Ca] used complex function theory in 1921 for the proof of (1-1). In 1959 Reid [Re] proved (1-1) for a minimal surface with connected boundary in \mathbb{R}^3 . His proof is based on Wirtinger's inequality:

$$(2-1) \qquad \int_0^{2\pi} \left(\frac{dy}{dt}\right)^2 dt \ge \int_0^{2\pi} y^2 dt,$$

where y(t) is a smooth function with period 2π and $\int_0^{2\pi} y(t) dt = 0$. This proof was extended by Hsiung [Hs] to \mathbb{R}^n in 1961. Then in 1975 a proof of (1–1) was obtained by Osserman–Schiffer [OS] for a doubly connected minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3 , and in 1977 by Feinberg [Fe] for a doubly connected minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n . In 1983 Li–Schoen–Yau proved (1–1) for a minimal surface with two boundary components in \mathbb{R}^3 . And in 1990 the author [C1] gave a proof for a minimal surface with two boundary components in \mathbb{R}^n .

In this section we shall give a proof for a minimal surface with connected boundary in \mathbb{R}^n . Also Osserman and Schiffer's result will be outlined.

Let S be an arbitrary surface in \mathbb{R}^n . If \vec{H} is the mean curvature vector of S, and if x is the position vector, then a general formula for the area A of S is

(2–2)
$$2A = -\int_{S} \langle x-p, \vec{H} \rangle + \int_{\partial S} \langle x-p, \nu \rangle$$

where $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is arbitrary, and ν is the outward unit conormal to ∂S on S, i.e., the normal to ∂S which is tangent to S. This formula is a special case of the first variation formula of area, using the variation field of the 1-parameter family of

homothetic expansions about p. Therefore

$$4\pi A \le L^2 - 2\pi \int_D \langle x - p, \vec{H} \rangle,$$

which is the desired isoperimetric inequality for a minimal surface S, if we can show

(2-3)
$$2\pi \int_{\partial S} \langle x-p, \nu \rangle \le L^2.$$

Osserman gave a proof of this inequality in [O1], p. 209. As a matter of fact, we can prove that this inequality is a consequence of an isoperimetric inequality provided p is a point of ∂S and ∂S is connected. To see why, let η be the unit normal to ∂S which makes the smallest angle with x-p among the normals to ∂S . Then $\langle x-p, \nu \rangle \leq \langle x-p, \eta \rangle$ and hence

$$2\pi \int_{\partial S} \langle x - p, \, \nu \rangle \le 2\pi \int_{\partial S} \langle x - p, \, \eta \rangle.$$

From the definition of η it is not difficult to see that

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial S} \langle x - p, \eta \rangle = \operatorname{Area}(p \times \partial S),$$

where $p \times \partial S$ is the cone which is the union of the line segments from p to the points of ∂S . Therefore (2–3) follows from the isoperimetric inequality of the planar domain obtained by developing $p \times \partial S$ on \mathbb{R}^2 . Note here that in general $p \times \partial S$ cannot be developed onto a planar domain if p is not from ∂S or ∂S is not connected. This kind of estimation of an integral by the area or angle of a cone will play a key role in Section 4 (see (4–1) and (4–2)).

We have thus proved the following.

THEOREM 2.1. If S is a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with connected boundary, then $4\pi A < L^2$.

Suppose now that S is minimal and has at least two boundary components. Let $\partial S = \bigcup C_i$, $L_i = \text{Length}(C_i)$ and choose points $p_i \in C_i$. Then by (2-3)

$$(2-4) 2\pi \int_{C_i} \langle x - p_i, \nu \rangle \le L_i^2.$$

But

(2-5)
$$\int_{C_{\cdot}} \langle x - p_1, \nu \rangle = \int_{C_{\cdot}} \langle x - p_i, \nu \rangle - \int_{C_{\cdot}} \langle p_1 - p_i, \nu \rangle,$$

so combining (2-4) and (2-5) with (2-2) gives

(2-6)
$$4\pi A \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} L_i^2 + 2\pi \sum_{i=2}^{k} \int_{C_i} \langle p_i - p_1, \nu \rangle.$$

If the integral term in (2-6) could be made to vanish, one would get

$$(2-7) 4\pi A \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} L_i^2$$

which is strictly stronger than $4\pi A \leq L^2$. In fact (2–7) does hold for area minimizing surfaces as we have seen at the end of the previous section. On the other hand, (2–7) is not true in general. Consider a catenoidal waist S bounded by parallel circles which is the *horizon* when viewed from a point p in the axis of the catenoid.

In other words, the catenoid is tangent to the position vector from p along the boundary circles of S. By [C6, Proposition 1], $\text{Area}(S) = \text{Area}(p \times \partial S)$ and so Area(S) will be greater than the sum of the areas A_i of the disks bounded by the separate circles. But for each of those disks we have $4\pi A_i = L_i^2$. Hence (2–7) fails to hold.

Returning to (2-6), let us think of geometric conditions under which the integral term of (2-6) can be made to vanish. A useful observation is the following. Applying (2-2) to a minimal surface S with $\partial S = \bigcup C_i$ yields

$$\int_{\partial S} \langle p, \nu \rangle = \int_{\partial S} \langle x, \nu \rangle - 2A,$$

for any p. Since the right hand side is independent of p, it follows that

$$\sum \int_{C_i} \nu = \int_{\partial S} \nu = 0.$$

Actually this integral is called the flux of S along ∂S (see [Fa] p. 81).

THEOREM 2.2. (a) Let S be a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with $\partial S = \bigcup_{i=1}^k C_i$. If the flux $\int_{C_i} \nu$ of S along C_i vanishes for each i, then

$$4\pi A \le \sum_{i=1}^k L_i^2.$$

(b) [O1] Let S be a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with two boundary components, i.e., $\partial S = C_1 \cup C_2$. If no hyperplane separates C_1 from C_2 , then

$$4\pi A \le L_1^2 + L_2^2.$$

PROOF. (a) follows from (2–6) since p_i-p_1 is a constant vector on each C_i . The flux $\int_{C_1} \nu = -\int_{C_2} \nu$ may or may not be a zero vector. In any case, let Π be a hyperplane which is orthogonal to the flux and intersects both C_1 and C_2 . Choose $p_1 \in C_1 \cap \Pi$ and $p_2 \in C_2 \cap \Pi$. Then $\langle p_2-p_1, \int_{C_2} \nu \rangle = 0$, so (2–6) proves (b).

Suppose that a hyperplane separates C_1 from $\bigcup_{i=2}^k C_i$. Then it is easy to see that the flux $\int_{C_1} \nu$ of S along C_1 is nonzero. This observation and Theorem 2.2 lead to the following.

OPEN PROBLEM 2.3. If S is a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with $\partial S = \bigcup_{i=1}^k C_i$ such that none of C_1, \ldots, C_k can be separated from the others by a hyperplane, then

$$4\pi A \le \sum_{i=1}^k L_i^2.$$

The inequality of Theorem 2.2 (b) is equivalent to

$$L^2 - 4\pi A > 2L_1L_2$$
.

Likewise, for an arbitrary doubly connected minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3 , Osserman and Schiffer [OS] (see p. 297) proved the following.

THEOREM 2.4. [OS] For any doubly connected minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3 ,

(2-8)
$$L^2 - 4\pi A \ge 2L_1 L_2 (1 - \log 2).$$

Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a doubly connected minimal surface. S is parametrized by a conformal harmonic map ψ of an annulus $r_1 < |z| < r_2$ into \mathbb{R}^n , where ψ is assumed to extend continuously to the boundary circles and to map them onto Jordan curves C_1, C_2 . Let L(r) be the length of the image of the circle |z| = r, for $r_1 < r < r_2$. The only case of interest is that where C_1 and C_2 are rectifiable, of length say, L_1 and L_2 . In that case, $\lim_{r \to r_i} L(r) = L_i$ for i = 1, 2. The key lemma for the case n = 3 is this:

PROPOSITION 2.5. [OS] The function L(r) satisfies

$$\frac{d^2L}{d(\log r)^2} \ge L$$

with equality possible in only two cases: if ψ is a conformal map onto a planar annulus, or if the image of ψ is a catenoid bounded by a pair of coaxial circles in parallel planes.

Using this equality together with (2-2) and the specific expressions for L(r) on a catenoid, they prove Theorem 2.4.

The proof of Proposition 2.5 depends on the Weierstrass representation formula for minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 , and does not go through for n > 3. But Feinberg [Fe] noted that a weaker form of (2–9) will yield a weaker form of (2–8). Specifically,

(2–10)
$$\frac{d^2L}{d(\log r)^2} > \frac{2}{\pi^2}L.$$

He proved this by deriving an analog of the Wirtinger inequality (2–1) but "without the squares". Namely,

$$\int_0^{2\pi} y(t) dt = 0 \ \Rightarrow \ \int_0^{2\pi} |y'(t)| \, dt > \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |y(t)| \, dt.$$

Note that unlike (2–1), the inequality here is a strict one. However, the constant $2/\pi$ is best possible. The inequality $4\pi A \leq L^2$ for all doubly connected minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^n follows from (2–10).

A final remark for doubly connected surfaces. We have learned from Carleman, Feinberg and Beckenbach–Radó that disk type minimal surfaces, doubly connected minimal surfaces and disk type nonpositively curved surfaces all satisfy the inequality $4\pi A \leq L^2$. However, as mentioned in the Introduction, doubly connected nonpositively curved surfaces do not satisfy the inequality because there are long cylinders with fixed perimeter whose area can be arbitrarily large. But is there any way of controlling the area of a cylinder with fixed perimeter? One way would be to fix the conformal structure of the cylinder. Consider all flat doubly connected surfaces which are conformally equivalent. It is not difficult to show that among them the flat annulus A with boundary curves of equal length satisfies the best isoperimetric inequality. Motivated by this, we propose the following.

Open Problem 2.6. Let S be a nonpositively curved annulus which is conformally equivalent to a flat annulus A with boundary curves of equal length. Show that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Area}(S)}{\operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^2} \le \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\mathsf{A})}{\operatorname{Length}(\partial \mathsf{A})^2}.$$

3. Li, Schoen and Yau's proof

In this section we briefly introduce Li–Schoen–Yau's proof for a minimal surface with two boundary components [LSY]. Their proof works also for a minimal surface with connected boundary.

First we rederive (2–2) for minimal S. Fix a point $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and define $r(x) = \operatorname{dist}(p,x), x = (x_1,\ldots,x_n)$. Given an m-dimensional submanifold $N \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, it is well known that

$$\triangle x = (\triangle x_1, \dots, \triangle x_n) = \vec{H},$$

where \triangle is the intrinsic Laplacian on N and \vec{H} is the mean curvature vector of N. Hence the rectangular coordinate functions x_1, \ldots, x_n are harmonic on a minimal submanifold of \mathbb{R}^n . If we take p as the origin, then

$$(3-1) \qquad \qquad \triangle r^2 = \sum \triangle x_i^2 = 2 \sum x_i \triangle x_i + 2 \sum |\nabla x_i|^2 = 2m \ \text{on} \ N.$$

Integrating this over N = S for m = 2 yields

(3–2)
$$4\operatorname{Area}(S) = \int_{S} \triangle r^{2} = \int_{\partial S} 2r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu},$$

where ν is the outward unit conormal to ∂S . Translating S suitably, we may assume $\int_{\partial S} x_i = 0$. Then

$$4\operatorname{Area}(S) = \int_{\partial S} 2r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \le 2 \int_{\partial S} r \le 2\operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\partial S} \sum x_i^2 \right)^{1/2}$$
$$\le \frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^{3/2} \left(\int_{\partial S} \sum \left(\frac{dx_i}{ds} \right)^2 \right)^{1/2} = \frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^2$$

(on the last line, the inequality follows by (2–1) or the Poincaré inequality, and the equality because $\sum (dx_i/ds)^2 = 1$). This gives $4\pi A \leq L^2$ when ∂S is connected.

In case ∂S is not connected, we cannot use the Poincaré inequality as above. However, note that $\int_{\partial S} \sum (dx_i/ds)^2$ is invariant under translations in \mathbb{R}^n and that $\int_{\partial S} \sum x_i^2$ may or may not be invariant depending on the choice of translations. Note also that the disconnected boundary ∂S may be made into a connected curve provided a suitable translation is applied to each component of ∂S . With these observations Li, Schoen and Yau introduced the following.

DEFINITION 3.1. A set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is weakly connected if there exists a rectangular coordinate system $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^n$ of \mathbb{R}^n such that for every affine hypersurface $H^{n-1} = \{x_i = constant\}$ in \mathbb{R}^n , H does not separate Γ .

Therefore a connected set is obviously weakly connected. The key idea of [LSY] is that if ∂S is weakly connected, then one can find a family of suitable translations which leave $\int_{\partial S} \sum x_i^2$ unchanged and make ∂S into a connected curve C. Consequently, the Poincaré inequality can be applied to C, and thereby yielding $4\pi A \leq L^2$ for S as above. In this way they proved

Theorem 3.2. [LSY] If S is a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n with weakly connected boundary ∂S , then S satisfies $4\pi A \leq L^2$.

And then applying the maximum principle to the family of homothetic contractions of a catenoid, they showed that if the boundary of a minimal surface S in \mathbb{R}^3 has two components and is not weakly connected, then S cannot be connected.

In this way they proved that a minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^3 with one or two boundary components satisfies $4\pi A \leq L^2$.

4. The Cone Method

The author extended Li–Schoen–Yau's theorem by taking a more geometric point of view [C1]. In their proof they used the inequality $\frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \leq 1$. But if η is the unit normal to ∂S which makes the smallest angle with ∇r , then

$$\frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \le \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} \le 1.$$

In fact η is the outward unit conormal to ∂S on the cone $p \times \partial S$, the union of the line segments from p to the points of ∂S . Although $p \times \partial S$ is not minimal, the identity $\triangle r^2 = 4$ holds there too because

$$\triangle r^2 = 4 + 2\langle x, \triangle x \rangle = 4 + 2\langle x, \vec{H} \rangle = 4,$$

where \vec{H} is the mean curvature vector of $p \times \partial S$, which is perpendicular to x. Therefore

(4-1)

$$4\operatorname{Area}(S) = \int_{S} \triangle r^2 = \int_{\partial S} 2r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \le \int_{\partial S} 2r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} = \int_{p \gg \partial S} \triangle r^2 = 4\operatorname{Area}(p \gg \partial S),$$

which gives an area comparison between S and $p \times \partial S$.

A nice thing about the cone $p \rtimes \partial S$ is that $p \rtimes \partial S$ is flat and hence is locally developable. If ∂S is connected, cut along a line segment l from p to a point of ∂S and then one can develop $p \rtimes \partial S$ into a cone $O \rtimes C$ on \mathbb{R}^2 . $O \rtimes C$ has the same area as $p \rtimes \partial S$ and C has the same length as ∂S . C may not be a closed curve, but we can show that it is a curve with self-intersection if p is an interior point of S as follows. Choose a point $p \in S$ and show that (Lemma 4.5 below)

$$\triangle \log r > 2\pi \delta_n$$
.

Then

$$(4\text{--}2) \hspace{1cm} 2\pi \leq \int_{S} \triangle \log r = \int_{\partial S} \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \leq \int_{\partial S} \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} = \mathrm{Angle}(\partial S, p),$$

where $\operatorname{Angle}(\partial S, p)$ is the *angle* of ∂S viewed from p. In other words, $\operatorname{Angle}(\partial S, p)$ equals 2π times the density of $p \rtimes \partial S$ at p. This angle estimate implies that ∂S rotates around p by at least 360° and consequently C should intersect itself. Then cutting $O \rtimes C$ into two pieces and pasting them appropriately give rise to a domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with

$$Area(D) \ge Area(O \times C) \ge Area(S)$$
, $Length(\partial D) = Length(C) = Length(\partial S)$

(see [C1, Lemma 1] for the construction of D). Therefore the classical isoperimetric inequality for D gives rise to (1-1) for S.

So far ∂S has been assumed to be connected. However, even if ∂S is not connected, C as defined above may behave like a connected curve. This motivates the following.

Definition 4.1. A set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is said to be radially connected from $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ if $\{r : r = \operatorname{dist}(p,q), q \in \Gamma\}$ is a connected interval.

If ∂S is radially connected from p, then we can apply to $p \times \partial S$ the argument of "cutting and inserting and pasting" to obtain a cone $O \times C \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with C connected. Moreover, if p is in S, then C has a self-intersection and so we can obtain the domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ as above and hence the desired isoperimetric inequality for S. See [C1, Theorem 1] for more details. Thus we have outlined the proof of the following.

Theorem 4.2. [C1] If S is a minimal surface whose boundary is radially connected from a point of the surface, then it satisfies $4\pi A \leq L^2$.

Although there is no relationship between radial connectivity and weak connectivity, we have a stronger corollary than Li–Schoen–Yau's: If S is in \mathbb{R}^n such that ∂S has two components then ∂S is radially connected from a point in S which is a midpoint between the two boundary components, and hence (1–1) holds for such S.

The volume comparison as in (4–1) holds for higher dimensional minimal submanifolds as well with the same proof:

PROPOSITION 4.3. [C1]. If $N \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is an m-dimensional minimal submanifold and p is a point in \mathbb{R}^n , then

$$Vol(N) \leq Vol(p \times \partial N).$$

Similarly, the angle estimate (4-2) holds in higher dimension also. To show this we need to define the geometric quantity angle:

DEFINITION 4.4. [C1]. Let $M \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a k-dimensional rectifiable set and p a point in \mathbb{R}^n . We define the k-dimensional angle of M from p, $\operatorname{Angle}(M,p)$ to be the k-dimensional mass of $(p \times M)^{\infty} \cap \partial B_p^n(1)$ counting multiplicity, where $(p \times M)^{\infty}$ is the infinite cone obtained by indefinitely extending $p \times M$ across M and $\partial B_p^n(1)$ is the unit sphere with center at p in \mathbb{R}^n .

Note that

$$Angle(M, p) = (k+1)\omega_{k+1}\Theta^{k+1}(p \times M, p),$$

where ω_{k+1} is the volume of a unit ball in \mathbb{R}^{k+1} and $\Theta^{k+1}(p \times M, p)$ denotes the (k+1)-dimensional density of $p \times M$ at p. Using this, we can also define the angle of a set in a Riemannian manifold.

LEMMA 4.5. [C1]. (a) $\log r$ is subharmonic on a minimal surface $N^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. More precisely, $\frac{1}{2\pi} \triangle \log r \ge \delta_p$, the Dirac delta function with singularity at p. (b) On an m-dimensional minimal submanifold $N \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $m \ge 3$, $\triangle r^{2-m} \le m \omega_m \delta_p$.

PROOF. Use $\triangle r^2=2n, \ |\nabla r|\leq 1$ on N. And recall that in $\mathbb{R}^m \triangle r^{2-m}=m \,\omega_m \delta_O$ and that near p N approximates to \mathbb{R}^m .

Integrating these Laplacians and using the facts $\frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \leq \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta}$ and $\int_{\partial N} r^{1-m} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} = \text{Angle}(\partial N, p)$, we get the following angle estimate.

PROPOSITION 4.6. [C1]. If p is an interior point of an m-dimensional minimal submanifold $N \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, then

$$Angle(\partial N, p) \ge m \,\omega_m$$

and equality holds if and only if N is totally geodesic and star-shaped with respect to p.

5. Hyperbolic Case

The author and Gulliver [CG1], [CG2] investigated the possibility of extending the cone method to a minimal surface S in S^n and H^n . We showed that the area comparison $\operatorname{Area}(S) \leq \operatorname{Area}(p \otimes \partial S)$ does hold for $S \subset H^n$ but not for $S \subset S^n$ (see [CG1, Proposition 2, Remark 1]), whereas the angle estimate $\operatorname{Angle}(\partial S, p) \geq 2\pi$ holds for $S \subset S^n$ as well as for $S \subset H^n$ ([CG2, Proposition 2]). As a result we proved the isoperimetric inequality

$$4\pi A < L^2 - A^2$$

for a minimal surface $S \subset H^n$ whose boundary is radially connected from a point of S.

Just as $p \times \partial S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is flat away from p, $p \times \partial S \subset H^n$ has constant Gaussian curvature -1 away from p. Therefore we can also develop $p \times \partial S \subset H^n$ on H^2 as we did $p \times \partial S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ on \mathbb{R}^2 . In H^n , however, we shall take a different approach: apply Bol's isoperimetric inequality. Bol showed that a simply connected domain D on a surface satisfies the inequality

$$4\pi A \le L^2 + (\sup_D K)A^2,$$

where K is the Gaussian curvature of the surface [Bo]. In this section Bol's isoperimetric inequality will be used on a smooth surface which is very close to $p \times \partial S$.

Given a k-dimensional submanifold N in a Riemannian manifold M, one can define the $extrinsic\ Laplacian\ \overline{\triangle}$ and $intrinsic\ Laplacian\ \triangle$ on N as follows. Let e_1,\ldots,e_k be orthonormal vector fields on a domain of N. Define

$$\overline{\triangle}f = \sum_{i} \overline{\nabla}^{2} f(e_{i}, e_{i})$$
 and $\triangle f = \sum_{i} \nabla^{2} f(e_{i}, e_{i}),$

where $\overline{\nabla}$ and ∇ are the Riemannian connections of M and N, respectively. Then one can easily prove the following.

Lemma 5.1.
$$\overline{\triangle}f = \triangle f - \vec{H}f$$
, where \vec{H} is the mean curvature vector of N .

By this lemma the intrinsic Laplacian on a minimal submanifold or a cone can be replaced with the extrinsic Laplacian which is easier to compute.

Let G(r) be a Green's function of S^k (or H^k), whose gradient is $\sin^{1-k} r \nabla r$ (or $\sinh r^{1-k} r \nabla r$, respectively). For instance,

$$G(r) = \log \frac{\sin r}{1 + \cos r} \ \text{ on } S^2 \quad \text{and} \quad G(r) = \log \frac{\sinh r}{1 + \cosh r} \ \text{ on } H^2.$$

Note that $\triangle G(r) = k\omega_k \delta_p$. Assuming $S^k \subset S^n$ and $H^k \subset H^n$, one can extend G to a rotationally symmetric function G(r) on S^n and H^n . Then by Lemma 5.1 we have

LEMMA 5.2. [CG2] $\triangle G(r) \ge k\omega_k \delta_p$ on minimal $N \subset S^n$ or H^n , and $\triangle G = k\omega_k \Theta \delta_p$ on $p \otimes \partial N$, where Θ is the density of $p \otimes \partial N$ at p.

DEFINITION 5.3. Let $C \subset S^n$ be a k-dimensional rectifiable set and p a point in S^n . The k-dimensional angle Angle (C, p) of C viewed from p is defined by

$$Angle(C, p) = \frac{Vol[(p \times C) \cap \partial B_p^n(t)]}{\sin^k t},$$

where $\partial B_p^n(t)$ is the geodesic sphere of radius $t < \operatorname{dist}(p,C)$ centered at p, and the volume is measured counting multiplicity. Clearly the angle does not depend on t. There is obviously an analogous definition for the angle of $C \subset H^n$ viewed from $p \in H^n$.

Note that

$$Angle(C, p) = (k+1)\omega_{k+1}\Theta^{k+1}(p \times C, p),$$

where $\Theta^{k+1}(p \times C, p)$ is the (k+1)-dimensional density of $p \times C$ at p. Now we integrate the Laplacians of Lemma 5.2 on N and on $p \times \partial N$. Using $\partial r/\partial \nu \leq \partial r/\partial \eta$ as in the previous section, we can prove the following.

PROPOSITION 5.4. [CG2]. Let N be a k-dimensional minimal submanifold in S^n or H^n and p an interior point of N. In case of $N \subset S^n$, we assume that $\operatorname{dist}(p,q) \leq \pi/2$ for all $q \in N$. Then

$$Angle(\partial N, p) \ge k\omega_k.$$

Equality holds if and only if N is totally geodesic and star-shaped with respect to p.

Now let $\alpha(r)$ be the volume of the geodesic ball of radius r in H^k and let f(r) be a function on H^k such that $\nabla f = \frac{\alpha}{\alpha'} \nabla r$. Then $f(r) = \log(1 + \cosh r)$ for k = 2. If we extend f to a rotationally symmetric function f(r) on $H^n \supset H^k$, then by Lemma 5.1 we have

Lemma 5.5. [CG1] $\triangle f \ge 1$ on minimal $N^k \subset H^n$ and $\triangle f = 1$ on H^k and a k-dimensional cone in H^n .

Here the vertex of the cone should be the point p from which the distance r is measured. Therefore integrating these Laplacians, we get the following.

PROPOSITION 5.6. [CG1] Let N be a minimal submanifold of H^n and p any point in H^n . Then

$$Vol(N) \leq Vol(p \times \partial N);$$

equality holds if and only if $p \in N$, and N must be totally geodesic and star-shaped with respect to p.

If ∂S is radially connected from p, then after applying the cutting and pasting arguments one can think of $p \times \partial S$ as a cone with connected boundary. Now Proposition 5.4 implies that for k=2 and N=S, the Gaussian curvature of $p \times \partial S$ at p is either $-\infty$ if $\mathrm{Angle}(\partial S,p)>2\pi$, or -1 if $\mathrm{Angle}(\partial S,p)=2\pi$. In the case of $-\infty$ one can slightly perturb $p \times \partial S$ near p to a smooth surface Σ of Gaussian curvature ≤ -1 ; see [CG1, Lemma 3]. Then Bol's isoperimetric inequality for Σ implies

$$4\pi \operatorname{Area}(p \times \partial S) \leq \operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^2 - \operatorname{Area}(p \times \partial S)^2$$

(see [CG1, Lemma 4] for details). Hence using Proposition 5.6 and the monotonicity of the quadratic function $4\pi A + A^2$ for positive area A, we can prove the following.

Theorem 5.7. [CG1] If S is a minimal surface in hyperbolic space H^n whose boundary is radially connected from a point of the surface, then S satisfies $4\pi A \leq L^2 - A^2$, with equality if and only if S is a geodesic disk in a totally geodesic $H^2 \subset H^n$.

6. Variable Curvature Case

So far we have considered minimal surfaces in a Riemannian manifold \overline{M} of constant sectional curvature K. In this section we extend the results of the preceding sections to minimal surfaces in a manifold M of variable curvature $\leq K$. The main obstacle to this extension is that one cannot prove the area comparison

$$Area(S) \leq Area(p \times \partial S)$$

for a minimal surface $S \subset M$. But we will get around this difficulty by comparing the area of S with that of a cone in \overline{M} .

When we study a Riemannian manifold of variable curvature the comparison theorems are very useful tools. Among them, the one that we need most for our purposes is the Hessian comparison theorem for the distances in M and in \overline{M} . Let r(x) be the distance from a fixed point p to x in M and denote the Hessian of r by $\nabla^2 r$. Assume that γ is a geodesic from p to q and v is a vector at q perpendicular to γ . Then $\nabla^2 r(v,v)$ is the second variation of the length of γ associated with the Jacobi field X along γ satisfying X(p)=0 and X(q)=v. The Jacobi field minimizes the second variation among all vector fields along γ with the same boundary conditions. Therefore if the sectional curvature of M^n is bounded from above by that of a space form \overline{M}^n which has a distance function \overline{r} with $\overline{r}(\cdot)=\mathrm{dist}(\overline{p},\cdot)$ and the Riemannian connection denoted by $\overline{\nabla}$, then one gets the Hessian comparison

(6-1)
$$\nabla^2 r(v,v) \ge \overline{\nabla}^2 \bar{r}(u,u),$$

where u is a vector at $\bar{q} \in \overline{M}$ with |u| = |v| and $\bar{r}(\bar{q}) = r(q)$, which is perpendicular to the geodesic $\bar{\gamma} \subset \overline{M}$ from \bar{p} to \bar{q} (see [SY1] p. 4).

From this comparison one can obtain the following lemmas on the Laplacian of some functions of distance.

Lemma 6.1. [C4] Let S be a minimal surface in a simply connected Riemannian manifold M of sectional curvature bounded above by a constant K. Define r(x) = dist(p, x) for fixed $p \in M$.

- (I) If K = 0, we have on S:
 - (a) $\triangle r^2 \ge 4$;
 - (b) $\triangle r \ge \frac{1}{r}(2 |\nabla r|^2);$
 - (c) $\triangle \log r \ge 2\pi \delta_p$ if $p \in S$.
- (II) If $K = -k^2 < 0$, then
 - (d) $\triangle r \ge k(2 |\nabla r|^2) \coth kr$;
 - (e) $\triangle \log(1 + \cosh kr) \ge -K$;
 - (f) $\triangle \log \frac{\sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr} \ge 2\pi \delta_p \text{ if } p \in S;$
 - (g) $\triangle \log \sinh kr \ge 2\pi\delta_p K$ if $p \in S$.
- (III) If $K = k^2 > 0$, then
 - (h) $\triangle r \ge k(2 |\nabla r|^2) \cot kr;$

(i)
$$\triangle \log \sin kr \ge 2\pi\delta_p - K \text{ if } p \in S \text{ and } r \le \frac{\pi}{2k};$$

(j)
$$\triangle \log \frac{\sin kr}{1 + \cos kr} \ge 2\pi \delta_p \text{ if } p \in S \text{ and } r \le \frac{\pi}{2k}.$$

PROOF. Denote the metrics of \overline{M} and M by \overline{g} and g, respectively. Assume first that K=0 and $\overline{M}=\mathbb{R}^n$. A straightforward computation in orthonormal coordinates of \mathbb{R}^n gives

$$(6-2) \qquad \qquad \overline{\nabla}^2 \bar{r}^2 = 2\bar{g}.$$

Since

$$\nabla^2 r^2 = 2r \nabla^2 r + 2\nabla r \otimes \nabla r \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\nabla}^2 \overline{r}^2 = 2\overline{r} \overline{\nabla}^2 \overline{r} + 2\overline{\nabla} \overline{r} \otimes \overline{\nabla} \overline{r},$$

(6-1) and (6-2) imply

$$\nabla^2 r^2 > 2q.$$

This and Lemma 5.1 imply (a). For (b) we compute

$$\triangle r = \operatorname{div} \nabla (r^2)^{1/2} = \operatorname{div} \frac{1}{2r} \nabla r^2 = \frac{1}{2r} \triangle r^2 - \frac{1}{2r^2} \langle \nabla r, \ 2r \nabla r \rangle \ge \frac{1}{r} (2 - |\nabla r|^2).$$

Similarly for (c)

$$\triangle \log r = \operatorname{div} \frac{1}{r} \nabla r = \frac{1}{r} \triangle r - \frac{1}{r^2} |\nabla r|^2 \ge \frac{2}{r^2} (1 - |\nabla r|^2) \ge 0.$$

Near p, however, S can be identified with T_pS , the tangent plane of S at p, on which $\triangle \log r = 2\pi \delta_p$ with respect to the Euclidean metric. Therefore on S, $\triangle \log r \ge 2\pi \delta_p$.

Assume now that $K=-k^2<0$. For any circle $C\subset \overline{M}$ of radius a with center at \bar{p} , the length of C equals $l(a)=(2\pi/k)\sinh ka$. So the geodesic curvature of C is $l'(a)/l(a)=k\coth ka$. Hence the principal curvature of the geodesic sphere $\Sigma\subset \overline{M}$ of radius a with center at \bar{p} is $k\coth ka$ everywhere on Σ in any direction. Note here that both the tangent space and the normal line to Σ are the eigenspaces of the Hessian of \bar{r} , $\overline{\nabla}^2\bar{r}$. Therefore one can easily see that

(6–3)
$$\overline{\nabla}^2 \cosh k\bar{r} = (k^2 \cosh k\bar{r})\bar{g},$$

and hence

(6-4)
$$\overline{\nabla}^2 \bar{r} = k \coth k \bar{r} (\bar{g} - \overline{\nabla} \bar{r} \otimes \overline{\nabla} \bar{r}).$$

Thus Lemma 5.1, (6–1), (6–4) and the fact that $\nabla r (= \operatorname{grad} r)$ is an eigenvector of $\nabla^2 r$ with eigenvalue zero prove (d). Then

$$\triangle \log(1+\cosh kr) = \operatorname{div} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1+\cosh kr} \nabla r = \frac{k^2}{1+\cosh kr} |\nabla r|^2 + \frac{k \sinh kr}{1+\cosh kr} \triangle r$$

$$\geq \frac{2k^2 \cosh kr + k^2 |\nabla r|^2 (1-\cosh kr)}{1+\cosh kr} \geq k^2,$$

which gives (e). Now we have

$$\triangle \log \frac{\sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr} = \operatorname{div} \frac{k}{\sinh kr} \nabla r = -\frac{k^2 \cosh kr}{\sinh^2 kr} |\nabla r|^2 + \frac{k}{\sinh kr} \triangle r$$
$$\ge \frac{2k^2 \cosh kr (1 - |\nabla r|^2)}{\sinh^2 kr} \ge 0.$$

However,

$$f(r) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \log \frac{\sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr}$$

is a fundamental solution of \triangle on $H^2(K)$ since

$$\frac{1}{2\pi f'(r)} = \frac{1}{k}\sinh kr$$

is the length of a Jacobi field. So (f) follows. Adding (e) to (f) gives (g).

Assume finally that $K = k^2 > 0$. As in the case of K < 0 above, one can show that in \overline{M}^n of constant sectional curvature K

$$\overline{\nabla}^2 \cos k\bar{r} = -(k^2 \cos k\bar{r})\bar{q}$$

and

$$\overline{\nabla}^2 \bar{r} = k \cot k \bar{r} (\bar{g} - \overline{\nabla} \bar{r} \otimes \overline{\nabla} \bar{r}),$$

from which (h) follows. And then

$$\triangle \log \frac{\sin kr}{1 + \cos kr} = \operatorname{div} \frac{k}{\sin kr} \nabla r = -\frac{k^2 \cos kr}{\sin^2 kr} |\nabla r|^2 + \frac{k}{\sin kr} \triangle r$$
$$\ge \frac{2k^2 \cos kr}{\sin^2 kr} (1 - |\nabla r|^2) \ge 0.$$

As in (f),

$$f(r) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \log \frac{\sin kr}{1 + \cos kr}$$

is a fundamental solution of \triangle on $S^2(K)$ since

$$\frac{1}{2\pi f'(r)} = \frac{1}{k}\sin kr$$

is the length of a Jacobi field. Thus (j) follows. For (i) we compute

$$\triangle \log \sin kr = \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{k \cos kr}{\sin kr} \nabla r\right) = -k^2 \csc^2 kr |\nabla r|^2 + k \cot kr \triangle r$$
$$\geq k^2 \csc^2 kr [2 \cos^2 kr - (1 + \cos^2 kr) |\nabla r|^2] \geq -k^2.$$

Note that

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\frac{d}{dr} \log \sin kr}{\frac{d}{dr} \log \frac{\sin kr}{1 + \cos kr}} = 1,$$

which proves (i).

Lemma 6.2. [C4] Let $\Gamma = \bar{p} \times \bar{C}$ be the cone from \bar{p} over a curve \bar{C} in a Riemannian manifold \overline{M} of nonpositive constant sectional curvature $K=-k^2$ and define $\bar{r}(x) = \operatorname{dist}(\bar{p}, x), \bar{p} \in \overline{M}$. Then, on Γ ,

(a)
$$\triangle \bar{r}^2 = 4$$
 if $K = 0$, while $\triangle \log(1 + \cosh k\bar{r}) = -K$ if $K < 0$

(a)
$$\triangle \bar{r}^2 = 4$$
 if $K = 0$, while $\triangle \log(1 + \cosh k\bar{r}) = -K$ if $K < 0$.
(b) $\triangle \log \bar{r} = \alpha \delta_{\bar{p}}$ if $K = 0$, while $\triangle \log \frac{\sinh k\bar{r}}{1 + \cosh k\bar{r}} = \alpha \delta_{\bar{p}}$ if $K < 0$, where $\alpha = \text{Angle}(\bar{C}, \bar{p})$.

PROOF. On Γ $\nabla \bar{r}$ is perpendicular to \vec{H} , the mean curvature vector of Γ ; hence Lemma 5.1 implies that for any function f of distance \bar{r} , $\overline{\Delta}f = \Delta f$. Moreover $|\nabla \bar{r}| \equiv 1$ on Γ . It follows from (6–2) and (6–3) that all the inequalities in Lemma 6.1(a), (c), (e) and (f) become equalities. This proves the lemma except for the constant α . The constant 2π that appears in the Laplacian of the fundamental solution on \mathbb{R}^2 and H^2 comes from the limit as $a \to 0$ of the circumference of the circle of radius a with center at \bar{p} divided by a. Similarly, if $\Sigma_{\bar{p}}(a)$ denotes the geodesic sphere of radius a with center at \bar{p} , α equals

$$\lim_{a\to 0} \frac{1}{a} \operatorname{Length}(\Gamma \cap \Sigma_{\bar{p}}(a)),$$

which is called the *angle* of \bar{C} viewed from \bar{p} and denoted Angle(\bar{C}, \bar{p}).

Now we have the main theorem as follows.

Theorem 6.3. [C4] Let S be a minimal surface in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M with sectional curvature bounded above by a nonpositive constant K. If ∂S is radially connected from a point of S, then S satisfies the isoperimetric inequality

$$(6-5) 4\pi A \le L^2 + KA^2,$$

where equality holds if and only if S is a geodesic disk in a surface of constant Gaussian curvature K.

PROOF. First suppose K < 0. Integrate Lemma 6.1(e) to get

$$\begin{split} -K \mathrm{Area}(S) & \leq \int_{S} \triangle \log(1+\cosh kr) = \int_{\partial S} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1+\cosh kr} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \\ & \leq \int_{\partial S} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1+\cosh kr} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} = \int_{\partial S} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1+\cosh kr} \sqrt{1-\langle \nabla r, \tau \rangle^2}, \end{split}$$

where ν, η are as in the preceding sections and τ is a unit tangent to ∂S .

Now the key step in the extension to the variable curvature case is to carry the last integral above over to the simply connected space form \overline{M} of sectional curvature K. Let C_1,\ldots,C_l be the components of ∂S . Choose $q_i\in C_i$ for each $i=1,\ldots,l$, and take $\bar{q}_1,\ldots,\bar{q}_l\in \overline{M}$ in such a way that $r(q_i)=\bar{r}(\bar{q}_i)$. Suppose that each curve C_i is parametrized by $c_i(s)$ with arclength parameter s such that $q_i=c_i(0)=c_i(\lambda_i),\ \lambda_i=\mathrm{Length}(C_i)$. Then we construct a curve \bar{C}_i in \overline{M} starting from \bar{q}_i and parametrized by $\bar{c}_i(s)$ with arclength parameter $s\in [0,\lambda_i]$ and $\bar{c}_i(0)=\bar{q}_i$ such that the unit tangent vector $\bar{c}_i'(s)$ makes an angle of $\cos^{-1}\langle\nabla r,c_i'(s)\rangle$ with $\nabla\bar{r}$. Of course the curve \bar{C}_i is not unique; but given a two-dimensional infinite cone $\bar{p}\rtimes\bar{C}$ containing \bar{q}_i , one can uniquely determine a curve \bar{C}_i on $\bar{p}\rtimes\bar{C}$ with the prescribed properties. Since $\bar{p}\rtimes\bar{C}$ is developable, one can also assume without loss of generality that $\bar{c}_i(0)=\bar{c}_i(\lambda_i)$, or equivalently, that \bar{C}_i is closed. Anyhow, r on C_i coincides with \bar{r} on \bar{C}_i in the sense that

$$r(c_i(s)) = \bar{r}(\bar{c}_i(s))$$
 and $\langle \nabla r, c'_i(s) \rangle = \langle \nabla \bar{r}, \bar{c}'_i(s) \rangle$.

Hence

$$\begin{split} -K\operatorname{Area}(S) &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{l} \int_{C_{i}} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr} \sqrt{1 - \langle \nabla r, c_{i}'(s) \rangle^{2}} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \int_{\bar{C}_{i}} \frac{k \sinh k\bar{r}}{1 + \cosh k\bar{r}} \sqrt{1 - \langle \nabla \bar{r}, \bar{c}_{i}'(s) \rangle^{2}}. \end{split}$$

If $\bar{\eta}$ is the outward unit conormal to \bar{C}_i on $\bar{p} \times \bar{C}_i$, then

$$\operatorname{Area}(S) \leq -\frac{1}{K} \sum_{i=1}^{l} \int_{\bar{C}_{i}} \frac{k \sinh k\bar{r}}{1 + \cosh k\bar{r}} \frac{\partial \bar{r}}{\partial \bar{\eta}} = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \int_{\bar{p} \times \bar{C}_{i}} \frac{1}{-K} \triangle \log(1 + \cosh k\bar{r})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \operatorname{Area}(\bar{p} \times \bar{C}_{i}) \text{ (by Lemma 6.2(a))} = \operatorname{Area}(\bar{p} \times \bar{C}),$$

with $\bar{C} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{l} \bar{C}_i$. Also it follows from the definition of \bar{C}_i that

$$Length(\partial S) = Length(\bar{C}).$$

On the other hand, integrating Lemma 6.1(f) over S and Lemma 6.2(b) over $\bar{p} \times \bar{C}$ as above, we get

$$\begin{split} 2\pi & \leq \int_{S} \triangle \log \frac{\sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr} = \int_{\partial S} \frac{k}{\sinh kr} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \leq \int_{\partial S} \frac{k}{\sinh kr} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} \\ & = \int_{\bar{C}} \frac{k}{\sinh k\bar{r}} \frac{\partial \bar{r}}{\partial \bar{\eta}} = \int_{\bar{p} \not \ll \bar{C}} \triangle \log \frac{\sinh k\bar{r}}{1 + \cosh k\bar{r}} = \mathrm{Angle}(\bar{C}, \bar{p}). \end{split}$$

Moreover, since $r|_{\partial S}$ coincides with $\bar{r}|_{\bar{C}}$, \bar{C} is also radially connected from \bar{p} . Hence from the cutting and pasting arguments and the approximation argument as in [CG1, Lemma 4] it follows that

$$4\pi \operatorname{Area}(\bar{p} \times \bar{C}) \leq \operatorname{Length}(\bar{C})^2 + K \operatorname{Area}(\bar{p} \times \bar{C})^2$$
.

Therefore using the area comparison obtained above and the monotonicity of the quadratic function $4\pi A - KA^2$ of A > 0, we obtain the desired isoperimetric inequality for S in case K < 0.

If equality holds in the isoperimetric inequality, then

$$Area(S) = Area(\bar{p} \times \bar{C})$$

and therefore equality should hold in Lemma 6.1(e). Consequently equality holds in (6–1) and $|\nabla r| \equiv 1$ on S as we easily see in the proof of Lemma 6.1(e). It follows that $S = p \times \partial S$ and, by Index Lemma, S is constantly curved and hence totally geodesic. Thus Schmidt's theorem [Sm] completes the proof in case K < 0.

Second, suppose K=0. Lemma 6.1(a) and Lemma 6.2(a) imply

$$Area(S) \le Area(\bar{p} \times \bar{C}),$$

and Lemma 6.1(c) and Lemma 6.2(b) imply

$$2\pi < \text{Angle}(\bar{C}, \bar{p}).$$

Thus the theorem follows from the arguments of Section 4.

In showing $\operatorname{Area}(S) \leq \operatorname{Area}(\bar{p} \times \bar{C})$ in the proof of Theorem 6.3, the main idea is to construct the cone $\bar{p} \times \bar{C}$ in \overline{M} such that

$$\int_{\partial S} \frac{k \sinh kr}{1 + \cosh kr} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \eta} = \int_{\bar{C}} \frac{k \sinh k\bar{r}}{1 + \cosh k\bar{r}} \frac{\partial \bar{r}}{\partial \bar{\eta}},$$

in other words,

$$r|_{\partial S} = \bar{r}|_{\bar{C}}$$
 and $(\partial r/\partial \eta)|_{\partial S} = (\partial \bar{r}/\partial \bar{\eta})|_{\bar{C}}$.

It is interesting to remark that this idea can be interpreted as giving a constant curvature metric \hat{g} to $p \times \partial S$ that preserves r, the length of ∂S and the angle between ∇r and ∂S . This new metric \hat{g} plays a key role in the proof of the embeddedness of a minimal surface in a Riemannian manifold in [CG3].

7. Varifolds and Flat Chains

Some minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 , like compound soap films, contain singular curves. They are not smooth but smooth almost everywhere. In some literature they are called stationary varifolds or area minimizing currents. Here it is interesting to ask whether the isoperimetric inequality $4\pi A \leq L^2$ holds also for these surfaces with singularities. In [C2] the author gave an affirmative answer; moreover he derived a new type of optimal isoperimetric inequality for certain types of soap films with singularities.

First we state sharp isoperimetric inequalities for domains in the plane where only a specific part of the boundary counts toward the length.

LEMMA 7.1. [C2] Let l_1 and l_2 be the rays emanating from a point O with an angle of $\theta \leq \pi$. Let C be a curve from a point of l_1 to a point of l_2 .

(a) Suppose that C lies in the smaller sector of the two formed by the rays (C may lie in either sector if $\theta = \pi$). Define D as the domain bounded by l_1, l_2 , and C. Then

$$2\theta \operatorname{Area}(D) \le \operatorname{Length}(C)^2$$
,

and equality holds if and only if C is a circular arc perpendicular to the rays.

(b) If C lies in the larger sector, then

$$2\pi \operatorname{Area}(D) \leq \operatorname{Length}(C)^2$$
,

where equality holds if and only if C is a semicircle perpendicular to one of the two rays.

DEFINITION 7.2. A compound Jordan curve is a one-dimensional rectifiable connected set in \mathbb{R}^n which is the union of finitely many Jordan curves (= homeomorphic images of a circle).

LEMMA 7.3. [C2] If C is a compound Jordan curve in \mathbb{R}^n and p a point of C, then

$$4\pi \operatorname{Area}(p \times C) \leq \operatorname{Length}(C)^2$$
.

Equality holds if and only if $p \times C$ can be developed, by cutting and inserting, one-to-one onto a disk.

Definition 7.4. (a) Suppose V is an m-dimensional varifold of locally bounded first variation in \mathbb{R}^n , and that Z is the generalized boundary of V with the generalized boundary measure σ . Assume Z is (m-1)-rectifiable. Let

$$\psi(x) = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \frac{\sigma(B_x(\rho))}{\mathsf{H}^{m-1}(Z \cap B_x(\rho))}, \quad x \in Z.$$

Then define the varifold boundary ∂V of V to be the varifold $\underline{\underline{v}}(Z,\psi)$. In other words, ∂V is the (m-1)-dimensional rectifiable varifold with support Z and multiplicity ψ . Clearly $\mu_{\partial V} = \sigma$.

(b) For an m-varifold $V = \underline{\underline{v}}(M, \theta)$, the varifold cone $p \times V$ from p over V is the (m+1)-varifold $\underline{\underline{v}}(p \times M, \bar{\theta})$, where $\bar{\theta}(y) = \theta(x)$ whenever y lies on the line segment from p to $x \in M$.

PROPOSITION 7.5. [C2] Let V be an m-varifold of locally bounded first variation in \mathbb{R}^n . If the generalized boundary Z of V is rectifiable and V is stationary in $\mathbb{R}^n \sim Z$, then for any $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbf{M}(V) \leq \mathbf{M}(p \times \partial V).$$

PROOF. By the first variation formula for the mass of V with the variation field Y,

$$\delta V(Y) = \int_{Z} \langle \nu, Y \rangle \, d\sigma.$$

Take Y to be the radial vector field defined by Y(x) = x - p. Then Y is the initial velocity vector field of the 1-parameter family of homothetic expansions $\{\phi_t\}$ given by $\phi_t(x) = (1+t)(x-p) + p$. Hence

$$\mathbf{M}(\phi_{t!!}V) = (1+t)^m \mathbf{M}(V),$$

and so

$$\delta V(Y) = \frac{d}{dt} (1+t)^m \mathbf{M}(V)|_{t=0} = m\mathbf{M}(V).$$

On the other hand, since Z is rectifiable, Z has tangent spaces almost everywhere and ν is normal to Z. Let $\eta(x)$ be a unit vector which is perpendicular to Z at $x \in Z$ and lies in the subspace of \mathbb{R}^n spanned by Y(x) = x - p and the tangent space to Z at x. Taking the negative of η if necessary, one may assume $\langle \eta, Y \rangle \geq 0$. It is not difficult to see that

$$\langle \nu, Y \rangle \leq \langle \eta, Y \rangle$$
.

Let r(x) = |Y(x)|. Then dr is the 1-form dual to the unit radial vector field Y/|Y|. Hence

$$m\mathbf{M}(V) = \int_{Z} \langle \nu, Y \rangle \, d\sigma \le \int_{Z} \langle \eta, Y \rangle \, d\sigma = \int_{Z} Y \, \, \lrcorner \, \, (dr \wedge d\sigma) = m\mathbf{M}(p \times \partial V),$$

where \lrcorner denotes the interior multiplication.

LEMMA 7.6. [C2] Let $W = \underline{\underline{v}}(Z, \psi)$ be a rectifiable 1-varifold in \mathbb{R}^n with $\psi \geq 1$ and let p be a point in Z. If Z is a compound Jordan curve, then

$$4\pi \mathbf{M}(p \times W) \le \mathbf{M}(W)^2.$$

Theorem 7.7. [C2] Suppose that V is a 2-varifold of locally bounded first variation in \mathbb{R}^n , the generalized boundary Z of V is rectifiable, and V is stationary in $\mathbb{R}^n \sim Z$. If the multiplicity of ∂V is ≥ 1 and Z is a compound Jordan curve, then

$$4\pi \mathbf{M}(V) \leq \mathbf{M}(\partial V)^2$$
.

PROOF. Use Proposition 7.5 and Lemma 7.6.

The inequality of Theorem 7.7 resembles the classical isoperimetric inequality. But here we shall see a new optimal isoperimetric inequality for some specific soap films as follows.

DEFINITION 7.8. Let $Y^k \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be the union of k great semicircles on a sphere meeting at the north and south poles at equal angles of $2\pi/k$. Define $Y_2^k \subset I_2^k$ to be the set of 2-dimensional flat chains T mod k in \mathbb{R}^n with multiplicity 1 almost everywhere such that $\mathrm{spt}\partial T$ is homeomorphic to Y^k and the associated varifold $V = \underline{v}(\mathrm{spt}T,\theta)$ is locally of bounded first variation in \mathbb{R}^n .

THEOREM 7.9. [C2] Suppose that T is a 2-dimensional area minimizing flat chain mod k in Y_2^k . If C_1, C_2, \ldots, C_k are the curves that constitute $\operatorname{spt} \partial T$ and have common end points, then

$$2\pi \mathbf{M}(T) \le \sum_{i=1}^k \text{Length}(C_i)^2.$$

And equality holds if and only if $\operatorname{spt} T$ is the union of k flat half-disks meeting each other along the common diameter.

Let Y be the union of three half-disks meeting each other along their common diameter at equal angles of 120 degrees. Let T be the intersection with the unit ball $B_p(1)$ of an infinite cone from p through the 1-skeleton of a regular tetrahedron whose center of mass is p. In [Ta] J. Taylor proved that the disk, Y and T are the only three cones that are area minimizing under Lipschitz maps leaving the boundary fixed. In view of this fact and Theorem 7.9, we would like to propose the following problem.

OPEN PROBLEM 7.10. Suppose that V is a 2-varifold with multiplicity 1 almost everywhere and is locally of bounded first variation in \mathbb{R}^n such that V is stationary outside the rectifiable boundary $\operatorname{spt} \partial V$. Suppose also that $\operatorname{spt} V$ is homeomorphic to T. Let $C_1, C_2, \ldots, C_6 \subset \operatorname{spt} \partial V$ be the curves that constitute $\operatorname{spt} \partial V$ and lie between 4 junctions of $\operatorname{spt} \partial V$. Show that

$$2\cos^{-1}(-\frac{1}{3})\mathbf{M}(V) \le \sum_{i=1}^{6} \operatorname{Length}(C_i)^2,$$

where equality holds if and only if $\operatorname{spt} V$ is a homothetic expansion (or contraction) of T.

8. Higher-Dimensional Minimal Submanifolds

So far we have considered two-dimensional minimal surfaces only. In this section we study the isoperimetric inequality of higher-dimensional minimal submanifolds.

Given a domain D in \mathbb{R}^m it is well known that if ω_m is the volume of a unit ball in \mathbb{R}^m , then

(8-1)
$$m^m \omega_m \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{m-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D)^m$$

and equality holds if and only if D is a ball. In view of Open Problem 1.1 it is tempting to conjecture

Open Problem 8.1. Any m-dimensional minimal submanifold N of \mathbb{R}^n satisfies the classical isoperimetric inequality

$$m^m \omega_m \operatorname{Vol}(N)^{m-1} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)^m$$
,

where equality holds if and only if N is a ball in an m-plane of \mathbb{R}^n .

This problem is far less settled than Open Problem 1.1. The only two cases that are known to hold are i) when ∂N lies on the (n-1)-dimensional sphere centered at a point of N (by monotonicity) and (ii) when N is area minimizing (by Almgren [A1]).

8.1. Monotonicity. Closely related to the isoperimetric inequality of a minimal submanifol N is the monotonicity property: the volume of $N \cap B_p(r)$ divided by the volume of the geodesic ball of radius r is a nondecreasing function of r. This property has been proved for \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbf{H}^n [An], but not for \mathbf{S}^n_+ (but see [GS], p. 353).

Lemma 8.2. (Monotonicity) Let N be an m-dimensional minimal submanifold in \mathbb{R}^n and r the distance in \mathbb{R}^n from $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then $\operatorname{Vol}(N \cap B_p(r))/r^m$ is a monotonically nondecreasing function of r for $0 < r < \operatorname{dist}(p, \partial N)$.

PROOF. Write $N_r = N \cap B_p(r)$. Integrate (3–1) $(\triangle r^2 = 2m)$ to obtain

(8-2)
$$m\operatorname{Vol}(N_r) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{N_r} \triangle r^2 = \int_{\partial N_r} r |\nabla r|.$$

Denote the volume forms on N and ∂N by dv and dS_r , respectively. Then we have

$$dv = \frac{1}{|\nabla r|} dS_r dr.$$

Then

$$\frac{d}{dr} \int_{N_{-}} |\nabla r|^2 dv = \int_{\partial N_{-}} |\nabla r| dS_r.$$

Hence

$$m\mathrm{Vol}(N_r) = r\frac{d}{dr}\int_N |\nabla r|^2 dv = r\frac{d}{dr}\mathrm{Vol}(N_r) - r\frac{d}{dr}\int_N (1 - |\nabla r|^2) dv \le r\frac{d}{dr}\mathrm{Vol}(N_r).$$

In the inequality above we used the fact that $|\nabla r| \leq 1$ on N. Hence

$$\frac{d}{dr} \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(N_r)}{r^m} \ge 0.$$

THEOREM 8.3. Let N be an m-dimensional minimal submanifold of \mathbb{R}^n . If ∂N lies in a sphere centered at a point p of N then

$$m^m \omega_m \operatorname{Vol}(N)^{m-1} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)^m$$
.

Equality holds if and only if N is a ball.

PROOF. Let R be the radius of the sphere. Applying $|\nabla r| \leq 1$ to (8–2) gives

$$m\mathrm{Vol}(N) = \int_{\partial N} r |\nabla r| \le R \cdot \mathrm{Vol}(\partial N).$$

Since $\lim_{r\to 0} \operatorname{Vol}(N_r)/r^m = \omega_m$, from Lemma 8.2 we get

$$\omega_m \leq \operatorname{Vol}(N)/R^m$$
.

Hence

$$m\operatorname{Vol}(N) \le \omega_m^{-1/m}\operatorname{Vol}(N)^{1/m}\operatorname{Vol}(\partial N),$$

which gives the desired inequality. Equality holds if and only if N is a cone with density at the center equal to 1 if and only if N is a ball.

8.2. Almgren's Proof. We have seen at the end of Section 1 that Open Problem 1.1 is true for area minimizing surface. Likewise it is shown by Almgren [Al] that Open Problem 8.1 is true for area minimizing submanifolds in \mathbb{R}^n . A submanifold is said to be *area minimizing* if its volume is less than or equal to the volume of every other submanifold having the same boundary.

THEOREM 8.4. [Al] If N is an m-dimensional area minimizing submanifold of \mathbb{R}^n , then

$$m^m \omega_m \operatorname{Vol}(N)^{m-1} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)^m$$

with equality if and only if N is a ball.

Although the proof involves some complicated technicalities, the basic idea is very elegant and not hard to understand. So we shall introduce the argument sketched by B. White in $[\mathbf{W}\mathbf{h}]$ for the special case of 2-dimensional surfaces in \mathbb{R}^3 which generalizes to higher dimension.

PROPOSITION 8.5. [Al], [Wh] If S is an area minimizing surface in \mathbb{R}^3 with area π , then its perimeter is greater than or equal to 2π , with equality if and only if S is a disk.

PROOF. Among all area minimizing surfaces with area π , let S be the one whose perimeter is as short as possible. It follows that S minimizes the ratio

$$\frac{\operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^2}{\operatorname{Area}(S)}$$

among all area minimizing surfaces (because the ratio is invariant with respect to dilations). Of course since a disk of area π and circumference 2π is area minimizing, ∂S must have length $\leq 2\pi$; our goal is to show that it has length exactly 2π .

Let C_t be a 1-parameter family of curves with $C_0 = \partial S$, and for each C_t let S_t be a surface of least area with boundary $\partial S_t = C_t$. Because Length $(C_t)^2/\text{Area}(S_t)$ attains its minimum at t = 0 we have

$$0 = \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)_{t=0} \frac{\text{Length}(C_t)^2}{\text{Area}(S_t)}$$

and therefore

$$(8-3) \quad 0 = \frac{2}{\pi} \operatorname{Length}(C_0) \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)_{t=0} \operatorname{Length}(C_t) - \frac{1}{\pi^2} \operatorname{Length}(C_0)^2 \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)_{t=0} \operatorname{Area}(S_t).$$

Now if in the 1-parameter family of curves C_t , the initial velocity of each point $x \in C_0$ is v(x), then

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)_{t=0} \operatorname{Length}(C_t) = -\int_{C_0} \langle v, \kappa \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)_{t=0} \operatorname{Area}(S_t) = \int_{C_0} \langle v, \nu \rangle,$$

where $\kappa(x)$ is the curvature vector of C_0 at x and ν is the outward unit conormal to ∂S . The first of these formulas is the first variation formula for the length of the curves C_t and the second is the first variation formula for the area of the minimal surfaces S_t . Combining these formulas with (8–3) gives

$$0 = \int_{C_0} \langle v, 2\pi\kappa + \text{Length}(C_0)\nu \rangle.$$

Because this holds for every vector field v, it follows that $2\pi\kappa + \mathrm{Length}(C_0)\nu$ must be identically 0. That is, the curve C_0 has constant curvature $\frac{1}{2\pi}\mathrm{Length}(C_0)$. Recall that $\mathrm{Length}(C_0) \leq 2\pi$ (we are trying to prove equality), so C_0 has curvature everywhere less than or equal to 1. The proposition then follows from the following result.

PROPOSITION 8.6. [Al], [Wh] If C is a closed k-dimensional submanifold in \mathbb{R}^m with mean curvature everywhere less than or equal to k, then the volume of C is greater than or equal to the volume of the unit k-sphere, with equality if and only if C is congruent to the unit k-sphere.

PROOF FOR $k=1,\ m=3$. Let K be the convex hull of C. Let $n:\partial K\to S^2$ be the Gauss map, which assigns to each $x\in\partial K$ the outward unit normal n(x) to K at x. Note that at a corner of K there are many outward unit normals so the map n is multivalued.

The first observation is that n maps $\partial K \sim C$ to a set of zero area in S^2 . To see this, consider for example the case where C consists of two congruent circles with one above the other so that K is a cylinder. Then n maps the sides of the cylinder to a great circle and the top and bottom to a pair of points.

On the other hand, the image of ∂K under n is all of S^2 , so the image of $C \cap \partial K$ under n must have area 4π . It is not too hard to see that an infinitesimal piece of C at x of length ds is mapped to a set of area at most

$$2 |\kappa(x)| ds$$
,

which is less than or equal to 2 ds because $|\kappa(x)| \leq 1$. Thus

$$\frac{\operatorname{Area}(n(C))}{\operatorname{Length}(C)} \le 2.$$

But the area of n(C) is 4π , therefore the length of C is at least 2π .

The key ingredients in the proof of Proposition 8.5 are the existence of the area minimizing surface S_t and the continuity of $Area(S_t)$ to Area(S) as $t \to 0$, both of which would not be valid if S were a general (not necessarily area minimizing) minimal surface.

9. The Calibration Method

There are numerous proofs for the original problem of Dido; among these we will introduce the most recent one given by Hélein [He] in 1994. His proof, in fact, holds even for curves on a sphere and on a hyperbolic plane as follows.

Theorem 9.1. Let S be a surface of Gaussian curvature K (=1 or -1). If a closed curve C on S has length L and encloses a domain of area A, then

$$4\pi A < L^2 + KA^2,$$

where equality holds if and only if C is a geodesic circle.

PROOF [He]. Let D be the domain enclosed by the smooth curve C on S. (x,y) denotes a point in $D \times \partial D$. For fixed $y \in \partial D$, cover D with the set of all circular arcs emanating from y and perpendicular to ∂D at y. Let V(x,y) be the unit tangent vector to the arc pointing away from y. Then V(x,y) is a unit vector field on $D \times \partial D$. One can easily compute

$$\operatorname{div} V = \frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \langle \nu, \nabla r \rangle$$

where ν is the unit inward normal to ∂D at y, $r = \operatorname{dist}(x, y)$ and f(r) = r, $\sin r$ or $\sinh r$ depending on whether K = 0, K = +1 or K = -1. Moreover one can show that if $r = \operatorname{dist}(x, z), x, z \in D$, then

$$\operatorname{div} \frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \nabla r = 4\pi \delta_x - K.$$

Let ω, dl be the volume forms of D, ∂D , respectively. Then we have a two-form $\alpha = V \,\lrcorner\, \omega \wedge dl$ where $\lrcorner\,$ denotes the interior multiplication such that

$$d\alpha = \operatorname{div} V\omega \wedge dl = \frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \langle \nu, \nabla r \rangle \omega \wedge dl.$$

Therefore

$$\int_{D\times\partial D} d\alpha = \int_{D} \left(\int_{\partial D} \frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \langle \nu, \nabla r \rangle dl \right) \omega = \int_{D} \left(\int_{D} d\left(\frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \nabla r \rfloor \omega \right) \right) \omega$$

$$= \int_{D} \left(\int_{D} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{1 + f'(r)}{f(r)} \nabla r \right) \omega \right) \omega = \int_{D} \left(\int_{D} (4\pi \delta_{x} - K) \omega \right) \omega$$

$$= \int_{D} (4\pi - KA) \omega = 4\pi A - KA^{2}.$$

On the other hand

(9-1)
$$\int_{D\times\partial D} d\alpha = \int_{\partial D\times\partial D} \alpha \leq \int_{\partial D\times\partial D} dl \wedge dl = L^2.$$

Thus we get $4\pi A \leq L^2 + KA^2$. In (9–1) inequality becomes equality if and only if V is perpendicular to ∂D at the end $\neq y$ of the circular arc, which occurs if and only if ∂D is a circle.

10. Weak Isoperimetric Inequalities

It would be beautiful if Hélein's argument generalized to minimal surfaces as well. But various attempts made by the author ended up with no results. In this section, however, we will exploit Simon's argument which resembles Hélein's (see [CG2], p. 181) and obtain an isoperimetric inequality which is not sharp but which holds for *all* minimal surfaces. We will also present Ros's argument which improves Simon's inequality, and derive Sobolev-type inequalities related with the weak isoperimetric inequalities.

10.1. Weak Inequalities.

Theorem 10.1. [C4], [CG2] Let S be a minimal surface in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M with sectional curvature bounded above by a constant K. If $K \leq 0$, then

$$(10-1) 2\pi A \le L^2 + KA^2.$$

In case K>0, (10-1) holds under the additional assumption $\operatorname{diam}(S)\leq \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{K}}$.

PROOF. (i) $K = -k^2 < 0$. Integrating Lemma 6.1(g) for fixed $p \in S$, we get

(10-2)
$$2\pi - KA \le \int_{S} \triangle \log \sinh kr \le \int_{\partial S} k \coth kr.$$

Recall that $r(x) = \operatorname{dist}(p, x)$ for fixed $p \in M$. Since (10–2) holds for any $p \in S$ we can let p vary on S and integrate (10–2) over S and apply Fubini's theorem to obtain

$$2\pi A - KA^{2} \leq \int_{S} \int_{\partial S} k \coth kr = \int_{\partial S} \int_{S} k \coth kr$$
$$\leq \int_{\partial S} \int_{S} \triangle r \text{ (by Lemma 6.1(d))}$$
$$= \int_{\partial S} \int_{\partial S} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \leq L^{2}.$$

- (ii) K = 0. Integrate Lemma 6.1(c) twice and apply Lemma 6.1(b) as above.
- (iii) K > 0. Integrate Lemma 6.1(i) twice and apply Lemma 6.1(h).

Theorem 10.2. [CG2] Let N be an m-dimensional minimal submanifold of a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n with sectional curvature bounded above by a negative constant $-k^2$. Then

$$k(m-1)\operatorname{Vol}(N) < \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)$$
.

PROOF. On a space form \overline{M}^n of sectional curvature $-k^2$, $\overline{\nabla}^2 r = k \coth kr(g - dr \otimes dr)$, where g is the metric tensor of \overline{M} . Hence the Hessian comparison (6–1) and Lemma 5.1 imply that on N

$$(10-3) \Delta r \ge k(m - |\nabla r|^2) \coth kr.$$

Therefore

$$\triangle \log \cosh kr = \operatorname{div}\left(k\frac{\sinh kr}{\cosh kr}\nabla r\right) = \frac{k^2}{\cosh^2 kr}|\nabla r|^2 + k\frac{\sinh kr}{\cosh kr}\Delta r$$
$$\geq k^2(m - |\nabla r|^2) \geq k^2(m - 1).$$

Hence

$$k(m-1)\operatorname{Vol}(N) \leq \frac{1}{k} \int_{N} \triangle \log \cosh kr \leq \int_{\partial N} \frac{\sinh kr}{\cosh kr} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N).$$

10.2. Simon's and Ros's Methods. The weak isoperimetric inequality

$$2\pi A < L^2$$

for all minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^n was originally proved by L. Simon (see [**Bm**, p. 318] or [**O2**, p. 1210]). We review Simon's argument briefly. As in (3–1), we have $\triangle r^2 = 4$ on a minimal surface $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Hence

$$(10-4) \qquad \qquad \triangle \log r = \frac{2}{r^2} (1 - |\nabla r|^2) \ge 2\pi \delta_p$$

and

Integrating (10–4) over S yields

$$(10\text{--}6) \hspace{1cm} 2\pi \leq \int_{y \in S} \triangle \log r_x(y) \leq \int_{y \in \partial S} \frac{1}{r_x(y)} \frac{\partial r_x(y)}{\partial \nu} \leq \int_{y \in \partial S} \frac{1}{r_x(y)} \,,$$

where $r_x(y) = \operatorname{dist}(x, y)$ for some fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and ν is the outward unit conormal to ∂S . Integrating (10–5) over S gives

(10-7)
$$\int_{x \in S} \frac{1}{r_y(x)} \le \int_{x \in S} \triangle r_y(x) = \int_{x \in \partial S} \frac{\partial r_y(x)}{\partial \nu}.$$

Let x vary over S, integrate (10–6) over S and use Fubini's theorem and (10–7) to get

$$2\pi A \le \int_{x \in S} \int_{y \in \partial S} \frac{1}{r_x(y)} = \int_{y \in \partial S} \int_{x \in S} \frac{1}{r_x(y)} = \int_{y \in \partial S} \int_{x \in S} \frac{1}{r_y(x)}$$

$$(10-8) \qquad \le \int_{y \in \partial S} \int_{x \in \partial S} \frac{\partial r_y(x)}{\partial \nu} \le \int_{y \in \partial S} \int_{x \in \partial S} 1 = L^2.$$

Recently A. Ros improved this inequality by the factor of $\sqrt{2}$. His idea goes as follows. First, note that one can write

$$\frac{\partial r_y(x)}{\partial \nu} = \frac{\langle x - y, \nu(x) \rangle}{|x - y|}.$$

Note also that the roles of x and y can be interchanged in (10–8). Hence by adding up each expression (10–8) for x and y, we get

$$4\pi A \le \int_{y \in \partial S} \int_{x \in \partial S} \frac{\langle x - y, \nu(x) - \nu(y) \rangle}{|x - y|}.$$

Therefore

$$4\pi A \leq \int_{y\in\partial S} \int_{x\in\partial S} |\nu(x) - \nu(y)|$$

$$\leq L \left(\int_{y\in\partial S} \int_{x\in\partial S} |\nu(x) - \nu(y)|^2 \right)^{1/2} \quad \text{(by the H\"older inequality)}$$

$$= L \left(\int_{y\in\partial S} \int_{x\in\partial S} (2 - 2\langle \nu(x), \nu(y) \rangle) \right)^{1/2}$$

$$= L \left(\int_{y\in\partial S} \int_{x\in\partial S} 2 \right)^{1/2} \quad \text{(since } \int_{x\in\partial S} \nu(x) = 0 \text{ on minimal } S \text{)}$$

$$= \sqrt{2}L^2.$$

Thus:

THEOREM 10.3. (Ros) For any minimal surface in \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$2\sqrt{2}\,\pi A \le L^2.$$

The author has recently heard that A. Stone also obtained this result [St].

10.3. Sobolev-type Inequalities. Due to the analytic nature of the proofs of Theorem 10.1 and 10.2 we can derive, applying the same argument, the Sobolev-type inequalities corresponding to the above isoperimetric inequality. As is well known, one can recover the isoperimetric inequality from the Sobolev-type inequality using characteristic functions as test functions. For more Sobolev-type inequalities, see [CG2].

Proposition 10.4. [CG2] Let f be a compactly supported smooth nonnegative function on a minimal surface S in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n with sectional curvature bounded above by a constant $K = \pm k^2$. If $K = k^2$, assume also that $\operatorname{diam}(S) \leq \pi/(2k)$. Then

$$2\pi \int_{S} f^{2} \leq \left(\int_{S} |\nabla f| \right)^{2} + K \left(\int_{S} f \right)^{2}.$$

PROOF. For $K = k^2$ we have from Lemma 6.1(i)

$$\operatorname{div}(f\nabla \log \sin kr) \ge \langle \nabla f, k \cot kr \nabla r \rangle - Kf + 2\pi f \, \delta_{p}.$$

Integrating both sides, we see that for a fixed $p = y \in S$

$$2\pi f(y) \le k \int_{x \in S} |\nabla f(x)| \cot k r_y(x) + K \int_{x \in S} f(x),$$

where $r_y(x) = \text{dist}(y, x)$. Moreover by Lemma 6.1(h)

$$\operatorname{div}(f\nabla r) \ge \langle \nabla f, \nabla r \rangle + kf \cot kr.$$

So

$$k \int_{y \in S} f(y) \cot k r_x(y) \le \int_{y \in S} |\nabla f(y)|.$$

Therefore

$$2\pi \int_{S} f^{2} \leq \int_{y \in S} f(y) \left(k \int_{x \in S} |\nabla f(x)| \cot k r_{y}(x) + K \int_{x \in S} f(x) \right)$$
$$= \int_{x \in S} |\nabla f(x)| \left(k \int_{y \in S} f(y) \cot k r_{x}(y) \right) + K \left(\int_{S} f \right)^{2}$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{S} |\nabla f| \right)^{2} + K \left(\int_{S} f \right)^{2}.$$

A similar proof is valid for $K = -k^2$.

Proposition 10.5. [CG2] Let f be a nonnegative smooth function with compact support on an m-dimensional minimal submanifold N in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold of sectional curvature bounded above by a negative constant $-k^2$. Then

$$k(m-1)\int_N f \le \int_N |\nabla f|.$$

PROOF. From (10-3) we have

$$\operatorname{div}(f\nabla r) \ge \langle \nabla f, \nabla r \rangle + k(m-1)f.$$

Integrate both sides over N.

11. Modified Volume

Unlike the isoperimetric inequalities $4\pi A \leq L^2$ and $k^k \omega_k \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{k-1} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D)^k$ in space (see (1–1) and (8–1)), the inequality (6–5) $4\pi A \leq L^2 + KA^2$ for minimal surfaces in space forms of curvature K has a correction term. In this section, however, we introduce a *modified volume* $M_p(N)$ of a k-dimensional minimal submanifold N of a space form and obtain an isoperimetric inequality like (8–1) with no correction term:

$$k^k \omega_k M_p(N)^{k-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)^k$$
.

DEFINITION 11.1. Let p be a point in S^n and let r(x) be the distance from p to x in S^n . Given a k-dimensional submanifold N of S^n , the modified volume $M_p(N)$ of N with center at p is defined to be

$$M_p(N) = \int_N \cos r.$$

Similarly for $N \subset H^n$, define

$$M_p(N) = \int_N \cosh r.$$

Obviously $M_p(N) \leq \operatorname{Vol}(N)$ for $N \subset S^n$, and $M_p(N) \geq \operatorname{Vol}(N)$ for $N \subset H^n$. Suppose that S^n is embedded in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} with p the north pole $(0,\dots,0,1)$ and that H^n is embedded as the hypersurface $\Sigma, x_1^2 + \dots + x_n^2 - x_{n+1}^2 = -1, x_{n+1} > 0$, of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} with the Minkowski metric $ds^2 = dx_1^2 + \dots + dx_n^2 - dx_{n+1}^2$ such that p becomes the point $(0,\dots,0,1) \in \Sigma$. Note that $\cos r$ is the Jacobian of the projection of S^n into $x_{n+1} = 0$ and that in the Minkowski space

$$dx_i = \cosh r \, dr, \ i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Therefore we have the following.

LEMMA 11.2. [CG2] $M_p(U), U \subset S^n$ or H^n , is the Euclidean volume of the orthogonal projection of U into the horizontal hyperplane $x_{n+1} = 0$, counting orientation.

It is well known that $\sin r$ and $\sinh r$ are the lengths of Jacobi fields in S^2 and H^2 , respectively. Hence it is easy to show that

$$\overline{\nabla}^2 \cos r = -(\cos r)g \text{ on } S^n, \ \overline{\nabla}^2 \cosh r = (\cosh r)g \text{ on } H^n$$

(see [CG2, Lemma 3]). Hence by Lemma 5.1, if $N \subset S^n$ or H^n is a k-dimensional minimal submanifold or a cone, then

$$(11-1) \triangle \cos r = -k \cos r, \triangle \cosh r = k \cosh r,$$

where the vertex of the cone should be the point p from which the distance function r is measured. Integrating (11–1) and following the proof of Proposition 4.3 or Proposition 5.6, we get the following.

PROPOSITION 11.3. [CG2] For any minimal submanifold N in S^n or H^n and any point p in S^n or H^n ,

$$(11-2) M_p(N) \le M_p(p \times \partial N).$$

We now have the comparison formulas that we need: Proposition 5.4 and Proposition 11.3. With these in our hands we can use the arguments of developing and cutting and pasting as in Section 4 and prove

Theorem 11.4. [CG2] Let S be a minimal surface in S^n and p a point of S. Assume that $r \leq \pi/2$ on S. If ∂S is radially connected from p, that is, $\{s : s = \operatorname{dist}(p,q), q \in \partial S\}$ is a connected interval, then $4\pi M_p(S) \leq \operatorname{Length}(\partial S)^2$. Equality holds if and only if S is a totally geodesic disk with center at p.

The same inequality is false for minimal surfaces in H^n . In fact, among domains in H^2 with prescribed boundary length, the modified area has no upper bound. Moreover, our proof fails in H^n because the projection in Minkowski space \mathbb{R}^{n+1} from H^n onto the hyperplane $x_{n+1}=0$ is a length-increasing map. In Theorem 11.6 below, however, it will be shown that the same inequality holds, even in higher dimension, in case ∂S lies in a sphere of H^n centered at p.

As we have seen in Section 8, the monotonicity of the volume of a minimal submanifold is closely related to the isoperimetric inequalities. The monotonicity has been proved for \mathbb{R}^n and for H^n [An], but not for S^n (see however [GS], p. 353). The next proposition shows that modified volume enjoys the monotonicity in all three cases.

PROPOSITION 11.5. [CG2] Let N be a k-dimensional minimal submanifold in S^n (H^n , respectively) and r the distance in S^n (H^n , respectively) from p. Then $M_p(N \cap B_p(r))/\sin^k r$ ($M_p(N \cap B_p(r))/\sinh^k r$, respectively) is a monotonically nondecreasing function of r for $0 < r < \min(\pi/2, \operatorname{dist}(p, \partial N))$ ($0 < r < \operatorname{dist}(p, \partial N)$, respectively).

PROOF. Define $N_r = N \cap B_p(r) \subset S^n$. Then

$$M_p(N_r) = -\frac{1}{k} \int_N \triangle \cos r = \frac{1}{k} \int_{\partial N} \sin r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} = \frac{1}{k} \sin r \int_{\partial N} |\nabla r|.$$

Denote the volume forms of N and ∂N_r by dv and dS_r , respectively. Then $dv = \frac{1}{|\nabla r|} dS_r dr$. Hence

$$\frac{d}{dr} \int_{N_{r}} \cos r |\nabla r|^2 dv = \frac{d}{dr} \int_0^r \int_{\partial N_{r}} \cos r |\nabla r| dS_r dr = \cos r \int_{\partial N_{r}} |\nabla r|.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} M_p(N_r) &= \frac{\sin r}{k \cos r} \cos r \int_{\partial N_r} |\nabla r| = \frac{\sin r}{k \cos r} \frac{d}{dr} \int_{N_r} \cos r |\nabla r|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{\sin r}{k \cos r} \frac{d}{dr} \int_{N_r} \cos r = \frac{\sin r}{k \cos r} \frac{d}{dr} M_p(N_r). \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\frac{d}{dr}\log[M_p(N_r)/\sin^k r] \ge 0.$$

Thus $M_n(N_r)/\sin^k r$ is nondecreasing; similarly for $N \subset H^n$.

A very special case of the radially connected boundary occurs when ∂N lies in a geodesic sphere. In this case the conclusion of Theorem 11.4 may be extended to hyperbolic space, and the minimal submanifold may have any dimension.

Theorem 11.6. [CG2] Let N be a k-dimensional minimal submanifold in S^n or H^n . Assume that ∂N lies in a geodesic sphere centered at a point p of N and that r is the distance in S^n or H^n from p. Furthermore, in case of $N \subset S^n$, assume $r \leq \pi/2$ on N. Then

$$k^k \omega_k M_p(N)^{k-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)^k$$
.

Equality holds if and only if N is a totally geodesic ball centered at p.

PROOF. Assume $N\subset H^n$ and let R be the radius of the geodesic sphere in which ∂N lies. Then

$$M_p(N) = \frac{1}{k} \int_N \triangle \cosh r = \frac{1}{k} \int_{\partial N} \sinh r \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu}$$
$$= \frac{1}{k} \sinh R \int_{\partial N} \frac{\partial r}{\partial \nu} \le \frac{1}{k} \sinh R \cdot \text{Vol}(\partial N).$$

Since $\lim_{r\to 0} M_p(N\cap B_p(r))/\sinh^k r = \omega_k$, we obtain from Proposition 11.5

$$M_p(N)/\sinh^k R \ge \omega_k$$
.

Hence

$$M_p(N) \le \frac{1}{k} \omega_k^{-1/k} M_p(N)^{1/k} \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N)$$

and so the desired inequality follows. Obviously equality holds if and only if N is a cone with density at the center equal to 1, or equivalently, N is a totally geodesic ball. A similar proof holds for $N \subset S^n$.

12. Relative Isoperimetric Inequality

By the classical isoperimetric inequality (8–1) for $D \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ we have

(12-1)
$$n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} < \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D)^n.$$

An immediate consequence of this inequality is that if H is a closed half space of \mathbb{R}^n and D is a subset of H then

$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial H)^n$$

and equality holds if and only if D is a half ball with the flat part of its boundary contained in ∂H . This follows if one applies (12–1) to the union of D and its mirror image across ∂H . Then a natural question to ask is the following.

OPEN PROBLEM 12.1. If $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a convex domain and D is a subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim C$, does D satisfy the isoperimetric inequality

(12–2)
$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \text{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \leq \text{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)^n?$$

Does equality hold if and only if C = H and D is a half ball with the flat part of its boundary lying in ∂H ?

Inequality (12–2) is called the *relative* isoperimetric inequality, C is called the supporting set of D, and $\operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)$ is called the relative volume of ∂D . For n=2 it is easy to prove (12–2): just reflect the convex hull of D about its linear boundary.

A partial answer for $n \geq 3$ was obtained by I. Kim [**K2**]; he showed that if $U = \{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y \geq f(x), f'' \geq 0\}$, then (12–2) holds for $C = U \times \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$. In this section we shall first see that the relative isoperimetric inequality holds if C is a graph which is symmetric about n-1 hyperplanes of \mathbb{R}^n [C5]. In particular, (12–2) holds when C is a ball. The tools of [C5] are Gromov's method of using the divergence theorem and Steiner's method of symmetrization. Then we shall give an outline of the proof of the relative isoperimetric inequality which has been obtained recently by the author and Ritoré [CR].

12.1. Gromov's Method. In [Gr] Gromov gave a new proof of the classical isoperimetric inequality. As F. Morgan pointed out to us, Knothe [Kn] and Berger [Bg] also used the same method as Gromov. His proof is based on a volume-preserving map whose divergence is bigger than or equal to the dimension of space. Here we shall see how Gromov's method can be adapted for our purpose and why the convexity of the supporting set is necessary.

Theorem 12.2. [C5] Let C be a convex domain in \mathbb{R}^n and D a subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim C$ with piecewise C^1 boundary. Suppose that every normal vector η to $\partial D \cap \partial C$ toward the exterior of D does not point upward, that is, $\langle \eta, \partial/\partial x^n \rangle \leq 0$ for the unit vertical vector $\partial/\partial x^n$. Suppose also that there exist vertical hyperplanes Π_1, \ldots, Π_{n-1} which are mutually perpendicular such that C and D are symmetric about each of them. Then

$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)^n,$$

where equality holds if and only if D is a half ball.

PARTIAL PROOF. First define a C^1 map $\phi_D: D \to [0,1]^n$ by

$$\phi_D(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=(\phi_1,\ldots,\phi_n),\ \phi_i=\frac{\overline{v}_i}{v_i},$$

$$v_{i} = L^{n-i+1}\{(a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}) \in D : a_{j} = x_{j}, 1 \leq j \leq i-1, -\infty \leq a_{k} \leq \infty, i \leq k \leq n\},$$

$$\overline{v}_{i} = L^{n-i+1}\{(a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}) \in D : a_{j} = x_{j}, 1 \leq j \leq i-1, -\infty \leq a_{i} \leq x_{i},$$

$$-\infty \leq a_{k} \leq \infty, i+1 \leq k\},$$

where L^k is k-dimensional Lebesgue measure. Then $\phi_i = \phi_i(x_1, \dots, x_i)$ and the Jacobian matrix of ϕ_D , $(\partial \phi_i/\partial x_j)$, is lower triangular with diagonal entries $\partial \phi_i/\partial x_i = v_{i+1}/v_i$ and $\partial \phi_n/\partial x_n = 1/v_n$. Therefore

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial\phi_i}{\partial x_j}\right) = \frac{1}{v_1}.$$

Similarly, define $\phi_B: B \to [0,1]^n$ where B is the half ball

(12-3)
$$\left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : x_n \ge 0, \sum x_i^2 \le (2\omega_n^{-1} \text{Vol}(D))^{2/n} \right\}.$$

Note that $\operatorname{Vol}(B) = \operatorname{Vol}(D) = v_1$. Like ϕ_D the Jacobian determinant of ϕ_B equals $1/v_1$. Let $\psi: D \to B$ be defined by $\psi = \phi_B^{-1} \circ \phi_D$. Then the Jacobian determinant of ψ equals 1. In other words, ψ is a volume-preserving map.

Now consider a vector field V on D defined by V(x) = the position vector of $\psi(x), x \in D$. Since the Jacobian matrix of ψ is also lower triangular, it follows from the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality that

$$(12-4) n = n(\det D\psi)^{1/n} \le \operatorname{div} V.$$

Let Π_n be the horizontal hyperplane $\{x_n=0\}$ and let $U_1,\ldots,U_{2^{n-1}}$ be the congruent subsets of Π_n separated by the vertical hyperplanes Π_1,\ldots,Π_{n-1} . Translating C and D in a suitable way we may assume that each Π_i contains $(0,\ldots,0)$. Define the projection $p:\mathbb{R}^n\to\Pi_n$ by $p(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=(x_1,\ldots,x_{n-1},0)$. By the divergence theorem applied to (12-4)

(12-5)
$$n\operatorname{Vol}(D) \leq \int_{\partial D \sim \partial C} \langle V, \eta \rangle + \int_{\partial D \cap \partial C} \langle V, \eta \rangle,$$

where η is the outward unit normal to ∂D . By (12–3) we have

(12-6)
$$|V| \le (2\omega_n^{-1} \operatorname{Vol}(D))^{1/n} \text{ on } \partial D \sim \partial C.$$

By the symmetry of C and D about Π_1, \ldots, Π_{n-1} and by the convexity of C, we get

(12-7)
$$\langle V, \eta \rangle \leq 0 \text{ on } \partial D \cap \partial C.$$

This is because if $x \in \partial D \cap \partial C$ and $p(x) \in U_k, 1 \le k \le 2^{n-1}$, then both $\psi(x)$ and $-p(q_\eta)$ lie in U_k , where $q_\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the point whose position vector is η . Therefore it follows from (12–5), (12–6), and (12–7) that

$$n\operatorname{Vol}(D) \leq (2\omega_n^{-1}\operatorname{Vol}(D))^{1/n}\operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C),$$

which implies (12–2).

See [C5] for the case of equality.

12.2. Steiner's Symmetrization. One of the oldest and most powerful methods in isoperimetric inequalities is Steiner's symmetrization [S2]. The key idea of this method is that given k functions

$$x_n = f_1(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}), \quad \dots, \quad x_n = f_k(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}),$$

the volume of the graph of the average function of f_1, \ldots, f_k is not bigger than the average of the volumes of the graphs of f_1, \ldots, f_k . This volume estimate is based on the simple inequality for k vectors in \mathbb{R}^n : $|v_1 + \cdots + v_k| \leq |v_1| + \cdots + |v_k|$. Here, using the symmetrization method, we shall improve Theorem 12.2.

THEOREM 12.3. [C5] Let C be a convex domain in \mathbb{R}^n , D a subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim C$ with piecewise C^1 boundary, and Π_n a horizontal hyperplane $\{x_n = 0\}$. Suppose that both $\partial D \sim \partial C$ and $\partial D \cap \partial C$ are graphs over a closed set $A \subset \Pi_n$. If A is symmetric about n-1 vertical hyperplanes Π_1, \ldots, Π_{n-1} which are mutually perpendicular, then

$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)^n,$$

where equality holds if and only if D is a half ball.

PARTIAL PROOF. Let $f_0, g_0: A \to \mathbb{R}$ be the functions defined by

$$x_n = f_0(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}), x_n = g_0(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})$$

such that $\partial D \sim \partial C$, $\partial D \cap \partial C$ are the graphs of f_0, g_0 , respectively. Let G be the group of isometries of \mathbb{R}^n generated by n-1 horizontal reflections which leave Π_1, \ldots, Π_{n-1} fixed, respectively. G consists of 2^{n-1} elements, say, $r_1, \ldots, r_{2^{n-1}}$. Define $f_i = f_0 \circ r_i$ and $g_i = g_0 \circ r_i, i = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$. Also define $f = 2^{1-n} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n-1}} f_i$, $g = 2^{1-n} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n-1}} g_i$. Since $f_0 \geq g_0$ on A and $f_0 = g_0$ on ∂A , we have $f \geq g$ on A

and f = g on ∂A . Hence graph(f) and graph(g) enclose a domain \hat{D} , and it is easy to see that

$$(12-8) Vol(D) = Vol(\hat{D}).$$

Note also that \hat{D} is symmetric about Π_1, \ldots, Π_{n-1} and graph $(g) \subset \partial \hat{D}$ is a subset of $\partial \hat{C}$ for some convex doamain \hat{C} . Moreover

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\partial \hat{D} \sim \partial \hat{C}) = \operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{graph}(f)) = \int_{A} \left| \left(2^{1-n} \sum_{i} \frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{1}}, \dots, 2^{1-n} \sum_{i} \frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{n-1}}, 1 \right) \right|$$

$$= 2^{1-n} \int_{A} \left| \left(\sum_{i} \frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{1}}, \dots, \sum_{i} \frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{n-1}}, 2^{n-1} \right) \right|$$

$$\leq 2^{1-n} \int_{A} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n-1}} \left| \left(\frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{1}}, \dots, \frac{\partial f_{i}}{\partial x_{n-1}}, 1 \right) \right|$$

$$= 2^{1-n} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n-1}} \operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{graph}(f_{i})) = \operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{graph}(f_{0})) = \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C).$$

This plus (12–8), together with Theorem 12.2 applied to \hat{C}, \hat{D} , gives the desired inequality.

Although the symmetry assumption is required in Theorems 12.2 and 12.3, it is not necessary in case the convex set C is a ball:

THEOREM 12.4. [C5] If C is a ball in \mathbb{R}^n and D is a subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim C$ with rectifiable boundary, then

$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)^n$$

with equality if and only if D is a half ball.

It is easy to prove this theorem once we know that the isoperimetric region of the complement of a ball is rotationally symmetric about a line through the center of the ball.

Lemma 12.5. [C5] Outside a ball $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ there exists a set \tilde{D} whose boundary has the least relative volume $\operatorname{Vol}(\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C)$ among all sets outside C with the same volume as \tilde{D} . In fact, $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$ is a spherical cap perpendicular to ∂C and $\partial \tilde{D} \cap \partial C$ lies in an open hemisphere of ∂C .

PROOF. The existence of \tilde{D} can be obtained by following the compactness argument in $[\mathbf{Sp}]$, pp. 441-444. Obviously $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$ has constant mean curvature and makes 90° with ∂C . We claim that \tilde{D} is rotationally symmetric about a line. Suppose not. Then there exists an (n-3)-dimensional great sphere S in ∂C such that \tilde{D} is not symmetric about any hyperplane containing S. Choose a hyperplane Π containing S that devides \tilde{D} into \tilde{D}_1 and \tilde{D}_2 of equal volume. Suppose without loss of generality that $\operatorname{Vol}(\partial \tilde{D}_1 \sim (\partial C \cup \Pi)) \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial \tilde{D}_2 \sim (\partial C \cup \Pi))$. Let \tilde{D}_3 be the mirror image of \tilde{D}_1 across Π and define \tilde{D}_{13} to be the union of the closures of \tilde{D}_1 and \tilde{D}_3 . If $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$ intersects Π at 90°, then the unique continuation property of the constant mean curvature hypersurfaces implies that \tilde{D} is symmetric about Π , contradicting our hypothesis. Therefore some part of $\partial \tilde{D}_{13} \sim \partial C$ should be not

 C^1 along Π . Then we can slightly perturb \tilde{D}_{13} along this singular part to get a set $D' \subset \mathbb{R}^n \sim C$ such that

$$Vol(D') = Vol(\tilde{D}_{13}) = Vol(\tilde{D}),$$

and

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\partial D' \sim \partial C) < \operatorname{Vol}(\partial \tilde{D}_{13} \sim \partial C) \leq \operatorname{Vol}(\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C).$$

But this contradicts the least relative volume property of $\partial \tilde{D}$. Hence \tilde{D} must be rotationally symmetric about a line l. Now let $\{q\} = (\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C) \cap l$ and take a spherical cap A through q which is rotationally symmetric about l and has the same mean curvature as $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$. Since $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$ is tangent to A at q, we can apply the maximum principle and conclude that $\partial \tilde{D} \sim \partial C$ itself is a spherical cap. Then $\partial \tilde{D} \cap \partial C$ is a subset of an open hemisphere of ∂C .

12.3. Dimensions Three and Four. The author and M. Ritoré have recently proved (12–2) in case n=3 [CR]. Here we give an idea of the proof. Given a convex set $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, define the relative isoperimetric profile of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim \overline{C}$, $I_C : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$, by

$$I_C(v) = \inf_D \{ \operatorname{Area}(\partial D \sim \partial C) : D \subset \mathbb{R}^n \sim \overline{C}, \operatorname{Vol}(D) = V \}.$$

Let $\mathbb{H}^+ = \{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : x_n \geq 0\}$ be the upper half space of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the relative profile of $\mathbb{R}^n \sim \mathbb{H}^+$ is given by

$$I_{\mathbb{H}^+}(V) = n \left(\frac{\omega_n}{2}\right)^{1/n} V^{(n-1)/n},$$

and the relative isoperimetric inequality (12-2) is equivalent to

$$(12-9) I_C(\operatorname{Vol}(D)) \ge I_{\mathbb{H}^+}(\operatorname{Vol}(D)),$$

with quality if and only if D is a half ball. How can one prove (12–9)? The idea is the following. First we shall take the first variation of (12–9) to get (12–10)

 $\sup_{p \in \partial D \sim \partial C} \{H(p) : H(p) \text{ is the mean curvature of } \partial D \text{ at } p\} \geq H_0(\operatorname{Area}(\partial D \sim \partial C))$

where $H_0(\text{Area}(\partial D \sim \partial C))$ is the mean curvature of the hemisphere of area $\text{Area}(\partial D \sim \partial C)$ in \mathbb{R}^n .

Then (12–10) follows from

$$(12-11) \qquad \qquad \int_{\partial D \sim \partial C} H^2 \ge 2\pi.$$

We prove this inequality by using a method of conformal geometry: If k_1 and k_2 are the principal curvatures of $\partial D \sim \partial C$, then $\int_{\partial D \sim \partial C} (k_1 - k_2)^2$ is invariant under the conformal change of metric in \mathbb{R}^3 . Note that

$$\frac{1}{4} \int_{\partial D_2 \partial C} (k_1 - k_2)^2 = \int_{\partial D_2 \partial C} (H^2 - K),$$

where K is the Gaussian curvature. Then (12–11) can be obtained by conformally blowing up $\partial D \sim \partial C$ around its boundary point and by using the convexity of ∂C .

In [CR] a new type of relative isoperimetric inequality is also proved:

Let C_1, C_2 be convex domains in \mathbb{R}^3 and D a subset of $\mathbb{R}^3 \sim (C_1 \cup C_2)$. If ∂C_1 and ∂C_2 make an angle of at least θ , then

$$18\theta \operatorname{Vol}(D)^2 \leq \operatorname{Area}(\partial D \sim \partial (C_1 \cup C_2))^3$$

with equality if and only if C_1 and C_2 are half spaces with an angle of θ and $\partial D \sim \partial (C_1 \cup C_2)$ is part of a sphere perpendicular to the planes ∂C_1 and ∂C_2 .

The author also proved the relative isoperimetric inequality (12–2) in \mathbb{R}^4 [C7]. Croke's arguments in [Cr] work nicely in the relative setting as well due to the following observation: The distance between two rays in \mathbb{R}^n emanating from a point grows linearly, while the distance between two rays in D grows faster after than before the rays hit and bounce off ∂C .

To be precise, the relative isoperimetric inequalities of [CR] and [C7] hold in a Riemannian manifold M^n (n=3,4) of nonpositive curvature. These results partially answer the Open Problem 12.6 below.

It would be interesting if one could derive a version of the relative isoperimetric inequality for minimal surfaces. Therefore, combining Open Problems 8.1 and 12.1, one can propose the following.

OPEN PROBLEM 12.6. Given a convex domain C in \mathbb{R}^n and an m-dimensional minimal submanifold N outside C such that N is orthogonal to ∂C along $\partial C \cap \partial N$, prove that

$$\frac{1}{2} m^m \omega_m \operatorname{Vol}(N)^{m-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N \sim \partial C)^m,$$

where equality holds if and only if N is a half ball.

I. Kim [K1] obtained a partial result for this open problem when N is two-dimensional. He proved that if S is a minimal surface in a Riemannian manifold M of constant sectional curvature $K \leq 0$, S lies outside a convex set C in M and is orthogonal to ∂C , and $\partial S \sim \partial C$ is connected or radially connected from a point of $\partial S \cap \partial C$, then

$$2\pi \operatorname{Area}(S) \leq \operatorname{Length}(\partial S \sim \partial C)^2 + K \operatorname{Area}(S)^2$$

and equality holds if and only if S is a totally geodesic half disk. For the proof of this, he first showed that

$$Area(S) \leq Area(p \times (\partial S \sim \partial C))$$
 for any $p \in C$

and

Angle(
$$\partial S \sim \partial C, p$$
) $> \pi$ for any $p \in \partial S \cap \partial C$.

Then he used the method of developing and cutting and pasting as in Section 4. Kim also extended Küster's linear isoperimetric inequality; Küster [Ku] proved

$$Vol(N) \le \frac{R}{m} Vol(\partial N)$$

for an m-dimensional minimal submanifold N of \mathbb{R}^n contained in a closed ball of radius R. Kim obtained a linear isoperimetric inequality for a minimal submanifold N^m in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n with sectional curvature bounded above by a nonpositive constant K:

$$\operatorname{Vol}(N) \le \frac{\alpha_{m,K}(R)}{\alpha'_{m,K}(R)} \operatorname{Vol}(\partial N),$$

where N is contained in a geodesic ball of radius R in M and $\alpha_{m,K}(R)$ denotes the volume of the geodesic ball of radius R in the m-dimensional space form of sectional curvature K.

13. Negatively Curved Surfaces

As we have seen in Section 1, it was Carleman [Ca] who first showed that the classical isoperimetric inequality $4\pi A \leq L^2$ still holds for some curved surfaces: disk type minimal surfaces in space. Then in 1926 Weil [We] obtained the same result for disk type surfaces of negative Gaussian curvature. Thereafter a variety of different methods were employed by a dozen mathematicians to prove the same or more general inequalities; Bol [Bo] used parallel curves and Alexandrov [Ax] used the method of polyhedral approximation. Huber [Hu] improved the inequality of Carleman and its generalization to subharmonic functions by Beckenbach and Radó [BR]. In this section we give a new simple proof of $4\pi A \leq L^2$ for nonpositively curved surfaces using the maximum principle: Given a disk type nonpositively curved surface S, we construct a domain S in \mathbb{R}^2 with area larger than that of S and perimeter equal to that of S. Then the inequality for S follows immediately from the classical isoperimetric inequality for S.

Theorem 13.1. If S is a simply connected nonpositively curved surface, then $4\pi A < L^2$.

Here we will give two proofs of this theorem. One is a geometric proof given in [BZ], and the other is more analytic in nature.

Geometric Proof (Outline). Consider the following special case. Suppose that S has connected smooth boundary all of whose parallel curves $l_t = \{x \in S : \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial S) = t\}$, except the furthest one l_r , are smooth simple closed curves. Denote by A(t) the area of the set $S_t = \{x \in S : \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial S) < t\}$. Under these assumptions A'(t) = l(t), where l(t) is the length of l_t . But the first variation formula for l(t) says

$$\frac{dl}{dt} = -\int_{l_t} k ds$$

where k is the geodesic curvature of l_t with respect to the inward normal to l_t . Assume that A''(t) = l'(t) also exists and is continuous in [0,r). By the Gauss–Bonnet formula for S_t , we have

$$A''(t) = -\int_{l_t} kds = -\int_{S_t} KdA - \int_{\partial S} kds.$$

Since $K \leq 0$, the Gauss–Bonnet formula for S implies

(13-1)
$$A''(t) \le -\int_{S} K dA - \int_{\partial S} k ds = -2\pi.$$

Assume here that $r=\sup\{t:l_t\neq\phi\}$. Multiplying (13–1) by $2A'(t)\geq 0$ and integrating from 0 to r, we get

$$A'(r)^2 - A'(0)^2 \le -4\pi [A(r) - A(0)].$$

Since A'(0) = L, A(0) = 0, A(r) = A, this yields

$$L^2 - 4\pi A \ge A'(r)^2 \ge 0$$
,

which is the desired inequality.

In general, the assumptions on the structure of the parallel curves l_t and the differentiability of A(t) do not hold. Nevertheless it is possible to obtain a rigorous proof along these lines. Such a proof is presented in [**BZ**], pp. 20-27. In order to

overcome the technical difficulties, the argument is carried out for polyhedra. The general case follows by passing to the limit. \Box

ANALYTIC PROOF. Let x and y be isothermal coordinates on S. Then the metric and the Gaussian curvature K of S can be written as

(13-2)
$$ds^2 = e^{2\lambda}(dx^2 + dy^2), \qquad K = -e^{-2\lambda} \triangle \lambda.$$

By the curvature assumption we have

$$(13-3) \Delta \lambda \geq 0 \text{ on } S.$$

Let h be the solution to the Dirichlet problem

(13-4)
$$\triangle h = 0 \text{ on } S, \qquad h = \lambda \text{ on } \partial S,$$

and introduce a surface \tilde{S} which is S equipped with the flat metric $\tilde{g}=e^{2h}(dx^2+dy^2)$. Actually \tilde{S} is the image of S in the complex plane under the holomorhic map $\phi(z)$ such that $\log |\phi'(z)| = h(x,y), z = x+iy$. Define $\tilde{A} = \operatorname{Area}(\tilde{S}), \ \tilde{L} = \operatorname{Length}(\partial \tilde{S})$. Note that the boundary condition (13–4) implies $\tilde{L} = L$. From (13–3), (13–4) and the maximum principle we get $\tilde{A} \geq A$. But we have $4\pi \tilde{A} \leq \tilde{L}^2$ for $\tilde{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Hence

$$4\pi A \le 4\pi \tilde{A} \le \tilde{L}^2 = L^2.$$

In the analytic proof we used the Dirichlet boundary value problem. By solving the mixed boundary value problem, instead, we can get a relative isoperimetric inequality:

Theorem 13.2. [C5] Let S be a disk type surface of nonpositive Gaussian curvature. Suppose that ∂S is the disjoint union of Γ_1 and Γ_2 such that Γ_1 is connected and concave, i.e., if c(s) is an arclength parametrization of Γ_1 , then c''(s) vanishes or points outward from S. Then

(13-5)
$$2\pi \operatorname{Area}(S) < \operatorname{Length}(\Gamma_2)^2$$

and equality holds if and only if S is a flat half-disk.

PROOF. The proof is similar to the analytic proof of the preceding theorem. The difference is that here we solve the mixed boundary value problem

$$\triangle h = 0 \text{ on } S, \qquad h = \lambda \text{ on } \Gamma_2, \qquad \frac{\partial h}{\partial u} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_1$$

and that the concavity of the free part Γ_1 implies

$$\frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial u} \leq 0$$

where ν is the outward unit normal to Γ_1 . This is because

$$\begin{split} 0 & \geq \left\langle \nabla e^{-\lambda} \partial / \partial y e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right\rangle = - \left\langle e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \nabla_{e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}} e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right\rangle \\ & = - e^{-3\lambda} \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \nabla_{\partial / \partial y} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right\rangle = - e^{-3\lambda} \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \nabla_{\partial / \partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right\rangle \\ & = - \frac{1}{2} e^{-3\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right|^2 = - e^{-\lambda} \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial \nu}. \end{split}$$

Then, by the maximum principle, $h \geq \lambda$ on S and hence $\tilde{A} \geq A$. Clearly Length(Γ_2) remains the same under the new metric \tilde{g} and Γ_1 is a line segment in \tilde{S} . Therefore

(13–5) follows from the relative isoperimetric inequality for $\tilde{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. See [C5] for more details.

In this section we have seen that nonpositively curved two-dimensional surfaces satisfy the same isoperimetric inequality as \mathbb{R}^2 . In regard to higher dimensional nonpositively curved Riemannian manifolds, Aubin conjectured that in the sense of the isoperimetric inequality, \mathbb{R}^n is more efficient than any complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n of nonpositive sectional curvature. More precisely, he conjectured that for any domain D in M^n

$$n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D)^n$$

and equality holds if and only if D is a Euclidean ball. Recently Kleiner [K1] and Croke [Cr] proved this inequality in M^3 and M^4 , respectively; but this conjecture is still open for $n \geq 5$. Extending Aubin's conjecture to the case of relative isoperimetric inequality, we would like to propose the following:

Open Problem 13.3. Let C be a convex domain in a complete simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n of nonpositive sectional curvature and D a subset of $M \sim C$. Prove that

$$\frac{1}{2} n^n \omega_n \operatorname{Vol}(D)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(\partial D \sim \partial C)^n,$$

where equality holds if and only if D is a Euclidean half ball.

As mentioned in the preceding section, this open problem has been solved for n=3 in [CR] and for n=4 in [C7].

14. Isoenergy Inequalities

So far we have studied many isoperimetric inequalities that relate the volume of a domain with that of its boundary. In this last section, however, we shall consider a *map* from a domain into a manifold and derive an inequality that relates the interior energy of the map with its boundary energy.

Consider a C^2 harmonic map u from a closed unit ball $\bar{B} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ to $\mathbb{R}^k, n \geq 2$. Define E(u) and $E(u|_{\partial B})$ to be the energy of the map u and of the restriction of u to ∂B , respectively. Then is there any relationship between E(u) and $E(u|_{\partial B})$ that resembles the isoperimetric inequality? Here we answer this question affirmatively; we obtain a relationship in a sharp form, called the *isoenergy* inequality, for a general target manifold N^k as well as \mathbb{R}^k . First, if N is a nonpositively curved k-dimensional Riemannian manifold, then we show

$$(n-1)E(u) \leq E(u|_{\partial B}),$$

where equality holds when $N = \mathbb{R}^k$ and u is a homothety or an orthogonal projection composed with a homothety. Second, when N^k is any Riemannian manifold, we prove

$$(n-2)E(u) \le E(u|_{\partial B}),$$

where equality holds if $N = S^{n-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and u(x) = x/|x|.

In Subsection 14.2, the method of the isoenergy inequality will enable us to estimate an upper bound for the first eigenvalue of the Laplacian on a minimal submanifold in the sphere.

14.1. Isoenergy Inequality via Monotonicity. Assume that M^n , N^k are Riemannian manifolds with N^k isometrically embedded in \mathbb{R}^m . We look at a bounded map $u: M \to N$ whose first derivatives are in L^2 ; such a map is thought of as a map $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m): M \to \mathbb{R}^m$ having image almost everywhere in N. Then the energy E(u) of u is defined by

$$E(u) = \int_{M} |\nabla u|^{2},$$

where $|\nabla u|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m |\nabla u_i|^2$, ∇u_i being the gradient of u_i on M. $|\nabla u|^2$ is called the energy density of u. The critical points of E(u) on the space of maps are referred to as harmonic maps. Thus $u \in C^2$ is harmonic if and only if

$$(14-1) \Delta_M \ u \perp T_u N.$$

A harmonic map u is stationary if its energy is critical with respect to variations of the type $u \circ F_t$, where $F_t : M \to M$ is a smooth path of diffeomorphisms of M fixing the boundary. It can be shown that stationary harmonic maps satisfy the monotonicity property for the scale invariant energy in balls. We state an equivalent form of the monotonicity in the following lemma.

LEMMA 14.1. Let $B_{\rho} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x| < \rho\}$ and $B = B_1$. If $u : B_{1+\epsilon} \to N^k$, $\epsilon > 0$, is a stationary harmonic map, we have

$$(14-2) \qquad (n-2) \int_{B} |\nabla u|^2 = \int_{\partial B} \left(|\nabla u|^2 - 2 \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2 \right), \qquad r = |x|.$$

PROOF. The monotonicity formula [Pr], [Sc] says

$$\rho^{2-n} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u|^2 - \sigma^{2-n} \int_{B_{\sigma}} |\nabla u|^2 = 2 \int_{B_{\rho} - B_{\sigma}} r^{2-n} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2,$$

for $0 < \sigma < \rho < 1 + \epsilon$. Noting that $\int_{\partial B_{\rho}} f = \frac{d}{d\rho} \int_{B_{\rho}} f$ for almost all ρ , differentiate the formula with respect to ρ and set $\rho = 1$.

The first isoenergy inequality of this section holds for a stationary harmonic map of $B_{1+\epsilon}$ into an arbitrary target manifold.

Theorem 14.2. [C3] Let $n \geq 3$ and suppose that $u: B_{1+\epsilon} \to N^k$, $\epsilon > 0$, is a stationary harmonic map into a Riemannian manifold N. Then

$$(n-2)E(u|_B) \le E(u|_{\partial B}),$$

where equality can be attained if $N = S^{n-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and u(x) = x/|x|.

PROOF. Let $\overline{\nabla}u_i$ denote the gradient of u_i on ∂B . Observe that

$$E(u|_{\partial B}) = \int_{\partial B} \sum_{i} |\overline{\nabla} u_{i}|^{2} = \int_{\partial B} \left(|\nabla u|^{2} - \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^{2} \right).$$

It follows from (14–2) that

(14-3)
$$(n-2)E(u|_B) = E(u|_{\partial B}) - \int_{\partial B} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2,$$

which gives the desired inequality. If u(x) = x/|x|, then $|\partial u/\partial r| = 0$ and hence equality holds.

Remark 1. (i) Lemma 14.1 and Theorem 14.2 fail to hold for nonstationary harmonic maps. See $[\mathbf{Po}][\mathbf{Ri}]$ for such maps.

- (ii) We should remark, in relation to Theorem 14.2, J.C.Wood's theorem that any smooth harmonic map u ($n \geq 2$) which is constant on ∂B is constant [**Wo**] (see also [**KW**]); the case for weakly harmonic maps is still open (see [**Sc**] for the definition of weakly harmonic maps).
- (iii) When n=3,4,5,6, there is a sequence $\{\phi_i\}$ of C^2 harmonic maps $\phi_i: \bar{B} \to S^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ (see [SY2]) such that $\phi_i(x)=(x,0)$ for $x\in \partial B, E(\phi_i)< E(\phi_{i+1})$, and

$$n-2 = \inf_{i} \frac{E(\phi_i|_{\partial B})}{E(\phi_i)}.$$

Now we prove the isoenergy inequality for a harmonic map from \bar{B} into \mathbb{R}^k . Although it is a special case of the isoenergy inequality for harmonic maps into a nonpositively curved space (Theorem 14.4), we state it independently because the proof of the Euclidean case is different and interesting in its own right.

THEOREM 14.3. [C3] Suppose that u is a smooth harmonic map from $\bar{B} \subset \mathbb{R}^n, n \geq 2$, into \mathbb{R}^k . Then we have the isoenergy inequality

$$(n-1)E(u) \le E(u|_{\partial B}),$$

where equality holds if and only if u is a linear map from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^k .

PROOF. (14-1) implies

$$\Delta u_i = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, k.$$

Hence

$$E(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{B} \Delta \sum_{i} u_{i}^{2} = \int_{\partial B} \sum_{i} u_{i} \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial r} \leq \left(\int_{\partial B} \sum_{i} u_{i}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\partial B} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2},$$

where, without loss of generality, we assume $\int_{\partial B} u_i = 0$ for i = 1, ..., k. Using (14–3) and the fact that n-1 is the first eigenvalue of the Laplacian on ∂B , one sees that the right-hand side of the preceding display is at most

$$\left(\frac{1}{n-1} \int_{\partial B} \sum_{i} |\overline{\nabla} u_{i}|^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(E(u|_{\partial B}) - (n-2)E(u)\right)^{1/2}.$$

Hence by combining the inequalities above one gets

$$E(u)^2 \le \frac{1}{n-1} E(u|_{\partial B}) (E(u|_{\partial B}) - (n-2)E(u)),$$

which gives the desired isoenergy inequality. Moreover equality holds if and only if u_i is a constant multiple of $\partial u_i/\partial r$ and

$$\Delta_{\partial B} u_i + (n-1)u_i = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, k,$$

which holds if and only if u is a linear map from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^m .

THEOREM 14.4. [C3] If u is a smooth harmonic map from $\bar{B} \subset \mathbb{R}^n, n \geq 2$, to a k-dimensional Riemannian manifold N of nonpositive sectional curvature, then

$$(n-1)E(u) \le E(u|_{\partial B}).$$

PROOF. The Bochner formula [**EL**] says that if $u:M^n\to N^k$ is harmonic then (14–4)

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta|\nabla u|^2 = ||\nabla' du||^2 - \sum_{\alpha,\beta} R_N(u_* e_\alpha, u_* e_\beta, u_* e_\alpha, u_* e_\beta) + \sum_i \text{Ric}_M(u^* \theta_i, u^* \theta_i),$$

where ∇' is the pullback connection from TN, e_1, \ldots, e_n is an orthonormal basis for TM and $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k$ is orthonormal for T^*N . Hence for $M = \bar{B}$ and N nonpositively curved, $|\nabla u|^2$ is subharmonic. Since the mean value of a subharmonic function on a sphere of radius r centered at the origin is monotonically nondecreasing as a function of r, one can deduce that

$$\frac{E(u)}{\omega_n} \le \frac{1}{n\omega_n} \int_{\partial B} |\nabla u|^2 = \frac{1}{n\omega_n} \left((n-2)E(u) + 2 \int_{\partial B} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2 \right),$$

where equality follows from (14-2). So

(14–5)
$$E(u) \le \int_{\partial B} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2.$$

Then adding (14–3) to (14–5) gives the isoenergy inequality.

Remark 2. In case u is a harmonic map from a ball B_{ρ} of radius ρ into N, one obviously has

$$(n-1)E(u) \le \rho E(u|_{\partial B_{\rho}}).$$

When the target manifold N is nonpositively curved we have an extension theorem by Eells–Sampson [**ES**] and Hamilton [**Ha**]: Given $\phi \in C^3(\bar{B}, N)$, there is a harmonic map $u \in C^2(\bar{B}, N)$ such that $u = \phi$ on ∂B , and u is homotopic to ϕ . Since this theorem allows us to impose a condition on $u|_{\partial B}$, e.g. conformality, one can obtain a mixture of the isoenergy inequality and the isoperimetric inequality as follows.

COROLLARY 14.5. [C3] Suppose N^k is nonpositively curved and let $B^n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x| < 1\}, \ n = 2, 3.$

- (a) If $u: \bar{B}^2 \to N$ is harmonic and $u|_{\partial B}$ is a constant speed map, then $4\pi \operatorname{Area}(u(B)) < 2\pi E(u) < \operatorname{Length}(u(\partial B))^2$.
- (b) If $u: \bar{B}^3 \to N$ is harmonic and $u|_{\partial B}$ is conformal, then

$$E(u) < \text{Area}(u(\partial B)).$$

(c) If $u: \bar{B}^n \to N$ is harmonic and $u|_{\partial B}$ is conformal, then

$$(n\omega_n)^{3-n}E(u)^{n-1} \le \operatorname{Vol}(u(\partial B))^2.$$

PROOF. The first inequality in (a) is well known. For the second, use the constant speed condition and Theorem 14.4. Part (b) is a special case of (c). For (c), let k^2 be the conformal factor of $u|_{\partial B}$. Then

$$E(u) \le \frac{1}{n-1} E(u|_{\partial B}) = \int_{\partial B} k^2 \le \left(\int_{\partial B} 1\right)^{(n-3)/(n-1)} \left(\int_{\partial B} k^{n-1}\right)^{2/(n-1)}$$
$$= (n\omega_n)^{(n-3)/(n-1)} \operatorname{Vol}(u(\partial B))^{2/(n-1)}.$$

14.2. Eigenvalue Estimate. Given an (n-1)-dimensional minimal submanifold Σ in $S^l \subset \mathbb{R}^{l+1}$, $O \times \Sigma$ is the cone from the origin O of \mathbb{R}^{l+1} over Σ , that is, the union of the unit line segments from O to the points of Σ . It is well known that $O \times \Sigma$ is an n-dimensional minimal submanifold of \mathbb{R}^{l+1} . In this section we want to consider the isoenergy inequality of a harmonic map u from $O \times \Sigma$ into \mathbb{R}^k . In the proof of the isoenergy inequality of Theorem 14.3 we used the fact that n-1 is the first eigenvalue of the Laplacian on S^{n-1} . However, we do not know the exact value of the first eigenvalue $\lambda_1(\Sigma)$ of the minimal submanifold $\Sigma \subset S^l$. Therefore, instead of deriving an isoenergy inequality, we obtain, by reversing the argument, an upper bound of the first eigenvalue in terms of the energy of the harmonic map u and its boundary energy. To do this, we need the following monotonicity on $O \times \Sigma$.

LEMMA 14.6. Let Σ be an (n-1)-dimensional submanifold of $S^l \subset \mathbb{R}^{l+1}$. If u is a harmonic map from $O \times \Sigma$ into \mathbb{R}^k which is C^2 up to and including the boundary Σ , then

$$(n-2)\int_{OX\Sigma} |\nabla u|^2 = \int_{\Sigma} \left(|\nabla u|^2 - 2 \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^2 \right).$$

PROOF. Let $\Sigma_{\rho} = \{x \in O \times \Sigma : |x| < \rho\}$. Note that the quantity

(14–6)
$$\Theta(\rho) = \rho^{2-n} \int_{\Sigma_{\theta}} |\nabla u|^2$$

is invariant under scaling. More precisely, if we denote $u^{\rho}(x) = u(\rho x)$, then

$$\Theta(\rho) = \int_{\Sigma_1} |\nabla u^{\rho}|^2.$$

So at $\rho = 1$ we see that

$$\frac{d}{d\rho}\Theta(\rho) = 2\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Sigma_1} \left\langle \nabla u_i, \nabla \frac{du_i^{\rho}}{d\rho} \right\rangle = 2\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Sigma} \langle x, \nabla u_i \rangle \frac{du_i^{\rho}}{d\rho} - 2\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Sigma_1} \triangle u_i \frac{du_i^{\rho}}{d\rho}.$$

Since $\langle x, \nabla u_i \rangle = du_i^{\rho}/d\rho$, $du^{\rho}/d\rho = \partial u/\partial r$ on Σ and $\Delta u_i = 0$ on Σ_1 , we get

(14-7)
$$\left(\frac{d}{d\rho}\Theta(\rho)\right)_{\rho=1} = 2\int_{\Sigma} \left|\frac{\partial u}{\partial r}\right|^{2}.$$

Thus (14–6) and (14–7) complete the proof.

Theorem 14.7. Let Σ be an (n-1)-dimensional submanifold of $S^l \subset \mathbb{R}^{l+1}$ and let $u: O \times \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a harmonic map which is C^2 up to and including the boundary Σ . Then

$$\lambda_1(\Sigma) \leq \frac{E(u|_{\Sigma})}{E(u)} \left(\frac{E(u|_{\Sigma})}{E(u)} - n + 2 \right).$$

PROOF. We follow the proof of Theorem 14.3 and use Lemma 14.6. So

$$E(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{O \times \Sigma} \Delta \sum_{i} u_{i}^{2} = \int_{\Sigma} \sum_{i} u_{i} \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial r} \leq \left(\int_{\Sigma} \sum_{i} u_{i}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Sigma} \left| \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{1}(\Sigma)} \int_{\Sigma} \sum_{i} |\overline{\nabla} u_{i}|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(E(u|_{\Sigma}) - (n-2)E(u) \right)^{1/2}.$$

Hence

$$\lambda_1(\Sigma)E(u)^2 + (n-2)E(u)E(u|_{\Sigma}) - E(u|_{\Sigma})^2 \le 0,$$
 which gives (14–8). \Box

COROLLARY 14.8. Let Σ be an embedded minimal hypersurface in S^n . If $u: O \times \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is harmonic and C^2 up to and including the boundary, then

$$(n-1)E(u) \le (-n+2+\sqrt{n^2-2n+2})E(u|_{\Sigma}).$$

PROOF. Combine (14–8) with Choi-Wang's estimate [CW]:

$$\frac{n-1}{2} \le \lambda_1(\Sigma).$$

Remark 3. In a sense (14–8) is similar to Chavel's estimate [Ch]:

$$\lambda_1(S) \le \frac{(n-1)}{n^2} \frac{A^2}{V^2},$$

where V is the volume of an n-dimensional minimal submanifold S of an m-dimensional complete simply connected nonpositively curved Riemannian manifold M and A is the volume of ∂S . Chavel's estimate, when applied to $S = O \times \Sigma \subset M = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ with Σ^{n-1} minimal in $S^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, implies $\lambda_1(\Sigma) \leq n-1$, which is nothing new. Also our estimate (14–8), when applied to u = identity, draws the same conclusion because $(n-1)E(\text{id}) = E(\text{id}|_{\Sigma})$. But should there exist a harmonic map $u: O \times \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfying

$$(14-9) (n-1)E(u) > E(u|_{\Sigma}),$$

then one would be able to conclude from (14-8) that

$$(14-10) \lambda_1(\Sigma) < n-1,$$

which would disprove Yau's conjecture [Ya, Problem 100]. In fact, since $\mathrm{Ric}_{O \times \Sigma}$ is nonpositive, one could deduce from the Bochner formula (14–4) that $|\nabla u|^2$ is strictly superharmonic provided

$$||\nabla' du||^2 + \sum_i \operatorname{Ric}_{O \bigotimes \Sigma} (u^* \theta_i, u^* \theta_i) < 0.$$

Then the argument of the proof of Theorem 14.4 would imply (14-9).

Open Problem 14.9. Does there exist a harmonic map $u: O \times \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfying (14-9)?

Open Problem 14.10. Let Σ be an (n-1)-dimensional embedded minimal hypersurface of S^n . A map $u: \Sigma \to S^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is said to be balanced if $\int_{\Sigma} u$ equals the zero vector in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Does there exist a balanced energy minimizing map of Σ into S^n which is different from the identity? If it exists, is its energy smaller than that of the identity?

If the answer to Open Problem 14.10 is affirmative, then one gets (14–10) since

$$\lambda_1(\Sigma)\mathrm{Vol}(\Sigma) = \lambda_1(\Sigma)\int_{\Sigma} |u|^2 \le \int_{\Sigma} |\nabla u|^2 < E(\mathrm{id}) = (n-1)\mathrm{Vol}(\Sigma).$$

For a minimal surface of codimension ≥ 2 , that case really occurs. Let $\psi: S^2(\sqrt{3}) \to S^4$ be the two-to-one locally isometric minimal immersion whose image is the Veronese surface V diffeomorphic to the projective plane. Let \widetilde{V} be the

double covering of V and define $u: \widetilde{V} \to S^4$ by $u = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \psi^{-1}$. Then u is a balanced harmonic map satisfying

$$E(u) = \frac{1}{3}E(id)$$
.

Indeed $\lambda_1(\widetilde{V}) = \frac{2}{3}$.

References

- [Ax] A. D. Alexandrov, Isoperimetric inequalities for curved surfaces, Dokl. Akad. Nauk USSR 47 (1945), 235-238.
- [Al] F. J. Almgren, Jr., Optimal isoperimetric inequalities, Indiana University Math. J. 35 (1986), 451-547.
- [An] M. Anderson, Complete minimal varieties in hyperbolic space, Invent. Math. 69 (1982), 477-494
- [BR] E. F. Beckenbach and T. Radó, Subharmonic functions and surfaces of negative curvature, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc, 35 (1933), 662-674.
- [Bg] M. Berger, Geometry II, Springer, New York, 1977.
- [Be] F. Bernstein, Über die isoperimetrische Eigenschaft des Kreises auf der Kugeloberfläche und in der Ebene, Math. Ann. 60 (1905), 117-136.
- [Bo] G. Bol, Isoperimetrische Ungleichung für Bereiche auf Flächen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 51 (1941), 219-257.
- [Bm] E. Bombieri, An introduction to minimal currents and parametric variational problems, Mathematical Reports 2 (1985) Harwood Academic Publishers.
- [BZ] Y. D. Burago and V. A. Zalgaller, Geometric inequalities, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 285, Springer, New York, 1988.
- [Ca] T. Carleman, Zur Theorie der Minimalflächen, Math. Z. 9 (1921), 154-160.
- [Ch] I. Chavel, On A. Hurwitz' method in isoperimetric inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 71 (1978), 275-279.
- [C1] J. Choe, The isoperimetric inequality for a minimal surface with radially connected boundary, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 17 (1990), 583-593.
- [C2] J. Choe, Sharp isoperimetric inequalities for stationary varifolds and area minimizing flat chains mod k, Kodai Math. J. 19 (1996), 177-190.
- [C3] J. Choe, The isoenergy inequality for a harmonic map, Houston J. Math. 24 (1998), 649-654.
- [C4] J. Choe, The isoperimetric inequality for minimal surfaces in a Riemannian manifold, J. reine angewandte Mathematik 506 (1999), 205-214.
- [C5] J. Choe, Relative isoperimetric inequality for domains outside a convex set, to appear in Archives Inequalities Appl.
- [C6] J. Choe, Index, vision number, and stability of complete minimal surfaces, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 109 (1990), 195-212.
- [C7] J. Choe, The double cover relative to a convex set and the relative isoperimetric inequality, preprint.
- [CG1] J. Choe and R. Gulliver, The sharp isoperimetric inequality for minimal surfaces with radially connected boundary in hyperbolic space, Invent. Math. 109 (1992), 495-503.
- [CG2] J. Choe and R. Gulliver, Isoperimetric inequalities on minimal submanifolds of space forms, manuscripta math. 77 (1992), 169-189.
- [CG3] J. Choe and R. Gulliver, Embedded minimal surfaces and total curvature of curves in a manifold, Math. Research Letters 10 (2003), 343-362.
- [CR] J. Choe and M. Ritoré, The relative isoperimetric inequality outside a convex set, preprint.
- [CW] H.I. Choi and A.-N. Wang, A first eigenvalue estimate for minimal hypersurfaces, J. Diff. Geom. 18 (1983), 559-562.
- [Cr] C. Croke, A sharp four dimensional isoperimetric inequality, Comment. Math. Helv. 59 (1984), 187-192.
- [EL] J. Eells and L. Lemaire, A report on harmonic maps, Bull. London Math. Soc. 10 (1978), 1-68.
- [ES] J. Eells and J. Sampson, Harmonic mappings of Riemannian manifolds, Amer. J. Math. 86 (1964), 109-160.
- [Fa] Y. Fang, Lectures on minimal surfaces in R³, Proc. Centre for Mathematics and its Applications, Australian Nat. Univ. 35 (1996).

- [Fe] J. Feinberg, The isoperimetric inequality for doubly connected minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^n , J.d'Anal. Math. **32** (1977), 249-278.
- [Fi] F. Fiala, Le problème des isopérimètres sur les surfaces ouvertes à courbure positive, Comment. Math. Helv. 13 (1940/41), 293-346.
- [Gr] M. Gromov, Isoperimetric inequalities in Riemannian manifolds, In Asymptotic Theory of Finite Dimensional Normed Spaces, Lecture Notes in Math. 1200, Appendix I, 114-129. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1986.
- [GS] R. Gulliver and P. Scott, Least area surfaces can have excess triple points, Topology 26 (1987), 345-359.
- [Ha] R. Hamilton, Harmonic maps of manifolds with boundary, Lecture Notes in Math. 471, Springer, 1975.
- [He] F. Hélein, Inégalité isoperimetrique et calibrations, Annales de l'Institut Fourier 44 (1994), 1211-1218. Isoperimetric inequalities and calibrations, Progress in Partial Differential Equations: the Metz surveys, M. Chipot and I. Shafrir ed., Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics, Series 345, Longman (1996). Prepublication 1996 numero 9602.
- [Hs] C. C. Hsiung, Isoperimetric inequalities for two-dimensional Riemannian manifolds with boundary, Ann. of Math. (2) 73 (1961), 213-220.
- [Hu] A. Huber, On the isoperimetric inequality on surfaces of variable Gaussian curvature, Ann. Math. 60 (1954), 237-247.
- [KW] H. Karcher and J.C. Wood, Non-existence results and growth properties for harmonic maps and forms, J. Reine Angew. Math. 353 (1984), 165-180.
- [K1] I. Kim, Relative isoperimetric inequality and linear isoperimetric inequality for minimal submanifolds, manuscripta math. 97 (1998), 343-352.
- [K2] I. Kim, An optimal relative isoperimetric inequality in concave cylindrical domains in Rⁿ, J. Inequalities Appl. 1 (2000), 97-102.
- [Kl] B. Kleiner, An isoperimetric comparison theorem, Invent. math. 108 (1992), 37-47.
- [Kn] H. Knothe, Contributions to the theory of convex bodies, Michigan Math. J. 4 (1957), 39-52.
- [Ku] A. Küster, On the linear isoperimetric inequality, manuscripta math. 53 (1985), 255-259.
- [LSY] P. Li, R. Schoen and S.-T. Yau, On the isoperimetric inequality for minimal surfaces, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 11 (1984), 237-244.
- [O1] R. Osserman, Isoperimetric and related inequalities, Proc. Symposia Pure Math. vol. 27, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, 1975, 207-215.
- [O2] R. Osserman, The isoperimetric inequality Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84 (1978), 1182-1238.
- [OS] R. Osserman and M. Schiffer, Doubly connected minimal surfaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 58 (1975), 285-307.
- [Po] C.-C. Poon, Some new harmonic maps from B^3 to S^2 , J. Diff. Geom., 34 (1991), 165-168.
- [Pr] P. Price, A monotonicity formula for Yang-Mills fields, manuscripta math. 43 (1983), 131-166
- [Re] W. T. Reid, The isoperimetric inequality and associated boundary problems J. Math. Mech. 8 (1959), 897-906.
- [Ri] T. Rivière, Everywhere discontinuous harmonic maps into spheres, Acta Math., 175 (1995), 197-226.
- [Sm] E. Schmidt, Über die isoperimetrische Aufgabe im m-dimensionalen Raum konstanter negativer Krümmung. I. Die isoperimetrischen Ungleichungen in der hyperbolischen Ebene und für Rotationskörper im n-dimensionalen hyperbolischen Raum, Math. Z. 46 (1940), 204-230.
- [Sc] R. Schoen, Analytic aspects of the harmonic map problem, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ. Vol. 2, Springer, Berlin, 1984, 321-358.
- [SY1] R. Schoen and S.-T. Yau. Lectures on Differential Geometry, International Press, 1994.
- [SY2] R. Schoen and S.-T. Yau. Lectures on Harmonic Maps, International Press, 1995
- [Sp] M. Spivak, A Comprehensive Introduction to Differential Geometry, 4, Publish or Perish, Berkeley, 1979.
- [S1] J. Steiner, Sur le maximum et le minimum des figures dans le plan sur la sphère et dans l'espace en général, J. Reine Angew. Math. 24 (1842), 93-152.
- [S2] J. Steiner, Einfach Beweise der isoperimetrische Hauptsätze, J. Reine Angew. Math. 18 (1838), 281-296. Reprinted: Gesammelte Werke. Bronx, NY: Chelsea Publ. Co., 1971 (reprint of 1881-1882 ed.).
- [St] A. Stone, On the isoperimetric inequality on a minimal surface, preprint.

- [Ta] J. Taylor, The structure of singularities in soap-bubble-like and soap-film-like minimal surfaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 103 (1976), 489-539.
- [We] A. Weil, Sur les surfaces à courbure négative, C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris 182 (1926), 1069-1071.
- [Wh] B. White, Some recent developments in differential geometry, Math. Intelligencer 11 (1989), 41-47.
- [Wo] J.C. Wood, Non-existence of solutions to certain Dirichlet problems for harmonic maps, I, preprint.
- [Ya] S.-T. Yau, Problem Section, Seminar on Differential Geometry, Annals Math. Studies, Princeton Univ. Press, 102 (1982), 669-706.

Department of Mathematics, Seoul National University, Seoul, 151-742, Korea $E\text{-}mail\ address$: choe@math.snu.ac.kr